TikTalk: The effects of mental health content on TikTok users

by

ANGELIKI – EIRINI KOURKOULOU

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

in

DIGITAL COMMUNICATION & SOCIAL MEDIA

DEREE - The American College of Greece

2023

Abstract

Over recent years, TikTok has undeniably become a highly popular social media platform, particularly among young adults (Feldkamp, 2021; McLachlan, 2023). Although numerous studies have been conducted on how social media might affect users' mental health (Milton, Ajmani, DeVito, & Chancellor, 2023; McCashin & Murphy, 2022; Zheluk, Anderson, & Dineen-Griffin, 2022; Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022; Miodus & Jimenez, 2021), there remains a sparse number of studies investigating how users perceive the effects of consuming mental health information on social media on their mental health awareness (Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022; McCashin & Murphy, 2022; Gallagher, 2022; Mandzufas, et al., 2023; Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022; Zhu, Xu, Zhang, Chen, & Evans, 2019; Caron, 2022; Kong, Song, Zhao, Zhu, & Sha, 2021). The aim of this study is to investigate how users' perspectives and experiences concerning mental health are affected by their exposure to mental health content on TikTok. The selected research method for the current research study is the survey method, utilizing a purposive sampling strategy to select participants who are active TitTok users. The study aligns with the quantitative research paradigm and will test six hypotheses, suggesting potential effects or associations between TikTok use and various facets of mental health.

Keywords: TikTok, social media effects, mental health, online health information, mental health awareness, survey method, user experience, uses and gratifications

To my beloved grandmother, Eirini, who passed away a few days before the submission of the current thesis, on October 6, 2023. Your unconditional love will guide me every step of the way.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Katerina Diamantaki, for her invaluable patience and feedback. I could not have undertaken this journey without her precious guidance throughout the way.

I am also grateful to my uncle, without whom this master's degree would not have been possible.

Lastly, I would be remiss in not mentioning my family, friends and partner for their emotional support and patience during the last two busy years.

Table of contents

Introduction1
Literature review
The effects of peer – to – peer support on mental health
Peer – to – peer support adjusted to an online world
The Uses & Gratifications Theory applied to the dominance of social media7
Social media and mental health
Facebook
Instagram11
YouTube
The effects of TikTok on mental health14
The benefits15
The disadvantages
Theoretical framework conclusion
Methodology
Research Design
Participants
Data Collection & Analysis
Reliability tests
Demographic distributions of the sample
Results
Discussion
Limitations and future research
References

Introduction

Mental health is a major global issue that affects people all over the world. According to the World Health Organization (WHO, 2022) one out of every eight people globally suffers from a mental health condition, with depression and anxiety disorders being the most common. Among these conditions, Gen Z and Gen Y young adults appear to be the most susceptible, as they experience elevated levels of stress (Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022). This may be linked to a variety of issues, including anxieties about their future prospects, economic uncertainties, and the widespread impact of technology and social media (Mojtabai, Olfson, & Han, 2016). The emergence of seismic global events, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian War in Ukraine, has aggravated the already precarious mental health of the general population. It is important to note, however, that mental health issues were already prevalent prior to these events, and their occurrence has only served to increase the frequency and severity of mental health issues worldwide. According to a survey conducted in early 2018, 91 percent of US Gen Zers aged 18 to 21 reported experiencing at least one physical or emotional symptom related to stress in the previous month (American Psychological Association, 2018).

Nowadays, one popular and easily accessible resource for people seeking mental health information, support, or advice is social media (Akhther & Sopory, 2022). A significant part of existing research has demonstrated the negative impact that social media can have on people's mental health (Beeres, Andersson, Vossen, & Galanti, 2021; Houghton et al., 2018; Orben & Przybylski, 2019; Drouin, Kaiser, & Miller, 2012; Andreassen, Pallesen, & Griffiths, 2017; Song et al., 2014). However, other work suggests that social media use is correlated with increased well-being (Burke & Kraut, 2016; Dienlin, Masur, & Trepte, 2017; Vogel, Rose, Roberts, & Eckles, 2014; Best, Manktelow, & Taylor, 2014). Thus, it would be interesting for this antithesis to be further investigated by examining the effects that mental health content on social media can have on its users. Platforms like YouTube (Diamantaki & Ziavras, 2022; Osman, Mohamed, Elhassan, & Shoufan, 2022), Facebook (Burke & Kraut, 2016; Song et al., 2014), and Instagram (Arendt, 2019; Bogolyubova, Upravitelev, Churilova, & Ledovaya, 2018) have been thoroughly studied in the past as networking platforms where users can find educational content, mental health awareness campaigns, and advice from professionals and peers (Alhabash & Ma, 2017). TikTok is also one of the most popular social media platforms that many young adults use frequently to discuss mental health issues and locate health - related content (Drillinger, 2022).

While several research studies have been conducted regarding the potential effects of the platform on users' mental health (Milton, Ajmani, DeVito, & Chancellor, 2023; McCashin & Murphy, 2022; Zheluk, Anderson, & Dineen-Griffin, 2022; Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022; Miodus & Jimenez, 2021), there is a lack of studies that comprehensively examine both its potential benefits and adverse effects on people's mental health. Specifically, what needed to be further researched in the current

study were the potential benefits that TikTok offers to its users in terms of mental health, and the strategies to achieve them. Furthermore, there are still relatively few research studies (Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022; McCashin & Murphy, 2022; Gallagher, 2022; Mandzufas, et al., 2023; Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022; Zhu, Xu, Zhang, Chen, & Evans, 2019; Caron, 2022; Kong, Song, Zhao, Zhu, & Sha, 2021) that specifically focus on the impact of TikTok health - related content on young adults' mental health. This includes examining the positive or negative, impact that mental health advice, support communities, and educational resources can have on young people's mental health, and how these could benefit or harm them when they are facing mental health issues. The current study was conducted to lead to interesting results regarding how the health advice and support offered through TikTok can prove to be beneficial for people seeking help and potentially overweigh the adverse effects that the use of other social media platforms can cause, such as addiction, anxiety, low self-esteem, or even depression.

As far as the timing is concerned, the period following the COVID-19 pandemic seemed ideal for conducting a research study focusing on the effects on people's mental health. Mental health related issues have been on the rise since the first outbreak of the pandemic (Panchal, et al., 2021; Racine, et al., 2021). Chronic - led stress and anxiety have emerged as the new hazardous epidemic especially for younger generations (Rudd & Beidas, 2020) making it essential to thoroughly investigate factors that can either improve or deteriorate their mental health. Additionally, the application of the Uses and Gratifications Theory in the current study shed light on the reasons why people increasingly use TikTok in their everyday lives and the needs they fulfil by using this platform.

The study adhered to the quantitative paradigm and examined the following Hypotheses, which suggested potential effects or associations between TikTok use and various aspects of mental health, such as awareness, symptoms, help-seeking behavior, stigma reduction, and psychological well-being.

H1: Regular exposure to mental health - related content on TikTok is associated with lower levels of users' perceived symptoms of anxiety, loneliness, and depression.

H2: There is a positive correlation between regular exposure to mental health content on TikTok and users' perceived levels of awareness of mental health issues.

H3: TikTok users who utilize the platform as a source of mental health support are more likely to recognize the need for professional help with mental health issues when necessary.

H4: TikTok users who utilize the platform for mental health advice and support report a significant decrease in perceived stigmatization of mental health issues.

H5: TikTok is regarded as the most favored social media platform for acquiring mental health advice and support.

H6: TikTok is generally perceived as an unreliable source of advice on mental health issues. Perceived reliability is increased in the sample that utilizes the platform for mental health content.

Overall, this study's goal was to contribute to an understanding of how TikTok, as a social media platform, influences the perceptions, attitudes, and behaviors of individuals in relation to mental health. By examining these factors, the study also aimed to provide insights that can inform interventions, policies, and strategies designed to promote mental health and well-being among TikTok users.

Literature review

In order to carry out the current research study effectively and have a more comprehensive understanding of the subject, many different areas will have to be investigated in depth. Prior studies conducted on relevant topics can help the researcher have a better understanding of the identified problem and offer some useful insights that will help both in forming the most appropriate research hypotheses, which will add to the existing knowledge, as well as in better analyzing the results. Findings on the relationship between social media and mental health will be presented, particularly focusing on the positive and negative effects of TikTok on people's fragile mental health. Moreover, TikTok's special characteristics as a platform will also have to be presented in order to better understand the reasons behind its impressive popularity among young audiences during the last years. In this context, media theories which suggest that the usage of communication media is a rational choice based on psychological needs and motives will also be utilized to examine and explain TikTok's popularity. A description of the historical background of the psychological support offered online is also going to be included in the examination of the existing literature, as it can prove to be very useful for the reader to fully comprehend the subject examined in the current study.

The effects of peer – to – peer support on mental health

Peer-to-peer support is a concept that has been defined in many different ways. Back in 1990, Riessman (Restructuring help: A human services paradigm for the 1990s) described it as a procedure, through which people, who are dealing with similar kinds of problems or have experienced comparable situations, come together to provide and get support based on their understanding that this support comes from shared experience. Mead, Hilton, and Curtis (2001) described it as "*a system of giving and receiving help*", which is based on the fundamental values of respect, shared accountability, and a common understanding of what is beneficial. The Mental Health Foundation in the UK has defined it as "*The help and support that people with lived experience of a mental illness or a learning disability can give to one another*" (Mental Health Foundation UK, n.d.), while Penney (2020) suggested that the word "*support*" generally describes the genuine empathy, motivation, and help that individuals with similar experiences can provide to each other in a mutually beneficial relationship. As far as *peer-to-peer support*, in particular, is concerned, she described it as the support provided by people who share common characteristics. Similar terms such as "*peer-delivered services*" or "*peer mentors*" are interchangeable in the academic literature and will be referred to as "*peer-to-peer support*" or just "*peer support*" in the current study.

Although it was formally established as a service in community mental health care in the 1990s, peer-to-peer support seems to have been practically in use as back as the end of the 18th century (Weiner, 1979) and it is thought to have its roots even before the earliest asylums (Shaw, 2014). According to the existing literature, peer-to-peer support historically, even at its earliest applications, appeared to enhance the mental health of individuals. Prior research has pointed out the significance of people feeling a sense of community and belonging to a group (Brewer, 1991). As McKenna and Bargh confirm with their study (1998), belonging to a social group is thought to improve confidence and self-worth and at the same time decrease self-doubt. It has also been repeatedly found in the past that connecting with people who share similar experiences may significantly aid in a person's inclusion in society, individual wellbeing, as well as in his/her recovery from serious mental illnesses (Davidson, et al., 1999). Many more studies have confirmed that including peer support in mental health services improves the recovery process and can have profound beneficial impacts on the patients, such as increased self - confidence, self - determination, hope, and increased participation during the process (Puschner, et al., 2019; Klodnick, Sabella, Brenner, & Krzos, 2014; Pettitt, 2003).

Mead, Hilton and Curtis (2001) also highlight, the fact that individuals with mental illnesses "have suffered from social and cultural exclusion and as a result have developed a sense of self that reinforces the "patient" identity". The authors argue that accepting this identity can be empowering and, in this context, they describe peer support as a movement that promotes autonomy and community-building by inspiring people to live their "most authentic lives and to take pride in their achievements" (Mead, Hilton, & Curtis, 2001). In a study conducted by Houston, Cooper and Ford (2002) on formalized Internet support groups for depression, it was discovered that participants who used a support group frequently (defined as more than 5 hours in 2 weeks) had a higher chance of experiencing an improvement regarding their depression than participants who did not use the group so frequently or not at all. Other studies also highlight the fact that people with mental health issues can substantially benefit from their online engagement with others, as well as by sharing their own unique daily experiences, which makes them feel part of a community (Naslund, Aschbrenner, Marsch, & Bartels, 2016). Moreover, according to Prescott, Hanley, and Ujhelyi (2017), online forums can also prove to be an effective type of peer support - based "medicine" that provides both educational and emotional support to those who are facing mental health issues. There are even studies that have discovered that peer support can lead to positive results that can even be superior compared to those offered by professional mental health care providers (Burke, Pyle, Machin, Varese, & Morrison, 2019; Davidson, et al., 2004; Sells, Davidson, Jewell, Falzer, & Rowe, 2006). As far as young people are concerned, peer support seems to substantially help them to better handle the stigmatization associated with mental illnesses (Ojeda, Munson, Jones, Berliant, & Gilmer, 2021; Vojtila, Ashfaq, Ampofo, Dawson, & Selby, 2021). Additionally, research shows that young people view peer support as more trustworthy than professional support, since, through this kind of services, peers talk about their own struggles and share their own experiences with mental illness (Gopalan, Lee, Harris, Acri, & Munson , 2017). To further support these findings, a research conducted by Rideout & Fox (2018) demonstrated, as early as 2018, that onethird of young adults in the US, between the ages of 14 and 22, had already connected with peers online, with more than 90% of them reporting the experience was indeed beneficial.

Perry & Pescosolido (2015), while recognizing the importance of social connection for people suffering from mental illnesses, added another aspect to this discussion by commenting that peer support is neither solely beneficial nor harmful. Specifically, they suggested that a person who faces a severe mental disorder usually decides to connect and talk with other people facing similar issues, in periods of increased unsteadiness and this makes peer support extremely important as a service. However, as they stress, the choice of who to connect with may either have a seriously negative impact on a person with a severe mental illness or significantly improve his/her mental health state (Perry & Pescosolido, 2015).

Despite the fact that the biggest part of the existing literature underlines the positive effects of peer support to people suffering from mental illnesses, there have been studies that challenge this idea, stressing that mixed intervention effects have been recorded and that there is still "limited to moderate" evidence regarding these effects (Chinman, et al., 2014; Cabassa, Camacho, Vélez-Grau, & Stefancic, 2017). Kaplan, Salzer, Solomon, Brusilovskiy, and Cousounis (2011) conducted a randomized controlled trial to examine the efficacy of *peer-to-peer support* among patients with a schizophrenia spectrum or affective disorder. Participants who engaged more frequently in peer-to-peer support networks after 4 and 12 months reported higher levels of psychological distress than those who engaged less frequently or not at all. Moreover, although peer support has been utilized as a mental health care service, there are studies that suggest that, when compared to other types of psychiatric assistance, peer support does not show improved results (Lloyd-Evans, et al., 2014). Peer support has also been found to be very distinct ---sometimes even opposite---to psychiatric care (Faulkner & Basset, 2012), as it has been argued that this kind of mental health care services can only be applied amongst individuals who are already close to each other and cannot effectively decrease symptoms of severe cases, just provide emotional support (Mead & Macneil, 2004). However, despite these studies challenging the evidence of the positive impact that peer support can have on people's mental health, it must be underlined that the vast majority of the existing literature points out benefits such as empowerment of the patient, social connections, confidence, faster and better recovery process, as well as a decrease in hospitalizations to acute care (Charles, et al., 2020; Mutschler, Bellamy, Davidson, Lichtenstein, & Kidd, 2022).

Peer – to – peer support adjusted to an online world

The launch of applications that encouraged engagement and collaboration also in the online world was made possible by Web 2.0, which gave Internet users easy ways access information and online services (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). Technological advancements in recent years have given users new opportunities, enabling them to gradually connect with one another even when they were physically apart (Madianou, 2016). This has led to the emergence of a new type of co-presence, known as "connected presence" (Licoppe, 2004). This way, peer support can nowadays be provided online, without the need for physical presence. Online interventions seem to have in fact some significant advantages compared to the traditional peer support services, as they remove geographic boundaries, they can be accessed and utilized whenever necessary, and they are usually much more affordable than conventional services (Clarke, Kuosmanen, & Barry, 2015). Peer support online is usually being provided in an informal way, as it is not connected to any professional medical care services, and it can be available to every user of the Internet. Ordinary users (nonprofessionals) can post topics for discussion on asynchronous platforms such as forums, discussion groups, and bulletin boards, where they can share their own knowledge and experience, seek support and talk about their concerns (Tanis, 2008). Apart from this, users can interact in real-time on synchronous platforms, such as chat rooms or even virtual worlds (Woodruff, Conway, Edwards, Elliott, & Crittenden, 2007). What was also widely popular online as a form of peer support, particularly before the emergence of social media, was the use of Internet support groups (ISGs), which could successfully foster the feeling of belonging to a community (Griffiths, Calear, & Banfield, 2009). The existing literature suggests that, as in the case of the offline - traditional peer support, online peer support can also prove positively impactful for young people's mental health, leading to empowerment, improvement of self-esteem and coping mechanisms as well as to reduction of the social isolation (Melling & Houguet-Pincham, 2011).

Thanks to Web 2.0, users are, moreover, able to effortlessly publish and seek out mental health material, as well as build online groups and connections centered on issues related to mental health (Ellis, 2012). In addition to that, the broad expansion of digital media has provided new opportunities for raising mental health awareness as well as offering mental health services in countries all around the world (Arafat, Zaman, & Hawlader, 2021; Bucci, Schwannauer, & Berry, 2019; Zhou, et al., 2020; Hungerbuehler, Valiengo, Loch, Rössler, & Gattaz, 2016; Maulik, et al., 2017). Support groups, self-help programs, assessment, and psychotherapy software, as well as websites with pertinent, useful information, are just a few examples of how the Internet can prove beneficial in offering mental health advice (Suler, 2000). Besides the support offered through online interaction, the so-called "E-health" and "tele-medicine" are some more instances of how the digital transformation has proven incredibly helpful for people facing mental health problems. The significance of "E-health" and "tele-medicine" became indisputable especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, when visiting a doctor or a mental health professional in person seemed like an extreme

option available only for rare and severe cases (Calo, Murray, Francis, Bermudez, & Kraschnewski, 2020). Due to these circumstances, the amount of medical treatment delivered via telehealth significantly increased (Amin, Rae, Ramirez, & Cox, 2020). The term "e-health" refers in general to all software programs that enable the online sharing of health information, previously between patients and clinicians, but nowadays even among patients (Hannemann, Götz,, Schmidt, Hübner, & Babitsch, 2021).

The Uses & Gratifications Theory applied to the dominance of social media

Recent research studies examining the impacts of the online world on people's mental health have primarily focused on the role of social media platforms. The advance of technology during the last decades has been significant transforming various aspects of people's everyday lives (Ong & Toh, 2023). Social media platforms, as an integral part of the latest technological developments, have managed to cover different needs and offer different gratifications to millions of users worldwide (Whiting & Williams, 2013), including mental health services, as mentioned above. To delve deeper into the pervasiveness of social media in people's everyday lives and their impact on users' mental health, this thesis also draws from the Uses & Gratifications Theory, a recognized paradigm for analyzing media consumption motivation (Katz, Blumler, & Gurevitch, 1973).

The Uses & Gratifications Theory, introduced by Katz, Blumler, & Gurevitch (1973), served as the antithesis of the hypodermic needle model of communication, which proposed that audiences cannot avoid being influenced by the media since messages may be directly "injected" into their consciousness, interfering with their thoughts in an anticipated, planned manner (Wimmer & Dominick, 2013). On the contrary, Uses & Gratifications theory posits that audiences are active and selectively choose specific media to fulfill their specific needs. By focusing on three elements: the purpose for media use, user behavior, and media use outcomes (Park & Goering, 2016), the Uses & Gratifications theory aims to explain the psychological or social demands that drive people's motivations to engage in diverse media usage activities (Katz, Blumler, & Gurevitch, 1974). Specifically, this theory relies on five principle assumptions, which are: (1) that media use is goal-directed; (2) that audiences actively participate in the media they consume; (3) that media rival with other mediums for meeting needs; (4) that users are aware of their motivations for using specific media; and (5) that only users themselves can assess the value of media content and the gratifications obtained from media usage (Katz, Blumler, & Gurevitch, 1973; Lometti, Reeves, & Bybee, 1977). The Uses and Gratifications Theory, which operates from this audience-centered viewpoint, also asserts that individual psychological variations and environmental settings influence platform - specific motives and the satisfaction attained through the consumption of media (Katz, Blumler, & Gurevitch, 1973), while Uses and Gratifications Theory-based studies have also discovered that the needs and wants that drive media engagement and media use differ depending on the platform (Alhabash & Ma, 2017; Kircaburun, Alhabash, Tosuntaş, & Griffiths, 2020). Apart from Uses & Gratifications Theory, the Technological Acceptance Model (TAM) as well as the Needs-Affordance-Features (NAF) Model of Technology Use model share the same premises, suggesting that usage of communication media is a rational choice based on psychological needs and motives (Karahanna, Xu, Xu, & Zhang, 2018; Marikyan & Papagiannidis, 2023).

According to Statista (2022), the top reasons for using social media platforms worldwide included "*keeping in touch with friends and family*", "*filling spare time*", "*reading news stories*" and "*finding content* (e.g. articles, videos)". Pertaining to TikTok, the focal point of the current study, most previous research agree on certain fundamental motivations behind its use. Falgoust et al. (2022) conducted interviews with college students aged 18-23 uncovering six primary needs fulfilled by TikTok: entertainment, easy access to communication, social interaction, social support, information acquisition and escapism from everyday life.

Interactivity, enjoyment and the sense of community were further confirmed by another content analysis study (Vaterlaus & Winter, 2021), which, also introduced "realism", "coolness" and "variety seeking", as additional motivations. Bossen and Kottasz (2020) found that the need for entertainment was a significant driver for using TikTok in their survey study, while Lawrence (2020) identified motivations such as entertainment, spending time, and escapism. Moreover, what has been underlined in previous studies is that TikTok's algorithm can serve the needs of each user differently, covering a wide range of gratifications that cannot be sufficiently encapsulated in just a few categories (Yaqi, Lee, & Liu, 2020).

Social media and mental health

It is worth highlighting the fact that seeking mental health content and advice has also been rising among the motivations of people using social media during the last years. A recent study in Saudi Arabia (AlMuammar, Noorsaeed, Alafif, Kamal, & Daghistani, 2021) found that 76.1% of the participants were using social media for searching mental health information, confirming another, older Saudi Arabian study, which had also discovered that 68% of the participants were using social media platforms as a health information resource (Bahkali, et al., 2016). A rise in mental health - related use of social media has also been noticed in the US, where approximately one in ten Americans reported to use social media when searching for reliable information regarding mental health (Gordon, 2021). Moreover, 9% said they also use social media to research potential treatments, while 7% stated that they use it to explore potential negative effects of medications (Gordon, 2021). Prior to focusing specifically on the effects of TikTok mental health content on its users' mental health, it is essential to generally examine the effects of social media use on mental well-being.

A significant part of existing research has demonstrated the negative impact that social media can have on people's mental health. Indicatively, a study by Beeres et al. (2021) found that, although there is no evidence to support a long-term association

between excessive social media consumption and mental health issues, there is a significant connection between social media use and depressive and anxious symptoms. Specifically, this study showed that the excessive use of social media could work as an indicator of the risk of mental health issues among adolescents, as people who used social media more were more likely to have higher degrees of psychological distress (Beeres, Andersson, Vossen, & Galanti, 2021). Similar findings were also reported by Houghton et al. (2018), who discovered that the increased use of screens by adolescents was connected with deterioration of their mental health, although there was again no proof that there is a longitudinal association between them. A negative association between the use of digital technology tools and the mental health of young people was also reported by Orben & Przybyski (2019), who found that overusing social media can have a negative impact on people's happiness and overall life satisfaction. Symptoms of anxiety caused by the need of people to constantly check the messages and notifications on social media, and by the so-called Phantom vibration syndrome (PVS), are also reported by Drouin, Kaiser & Miller (2012). Moreover, the addiction in using social media was found to be correlated with low self-esteem (Andreassen, Pallesen, & Griffiths, 2017), while another study suggested that people tend to use social media, and especially Facebook, more when they feel more lonely (Song, et al., 2014).

Although a significant number of studies indicate that there is an association between social media use and a decrease in well-being, other work suggests that social media use is correlated with increased well-being. Burke and Kraut (2016) found that using social media platforms can boost social support by encouraging a sense of connection and belonging among users, while Dienlin, Masur & Trepte (2017) suggested that social media, depending on their use, can also be useful resources for self-expression, identity development, and creative outlets. According to a study by Vogel et al. (2014), using social media can, moreover, increase the sense of social support and minimize symptoms of isolation and sadness, as online interactions can foster a sense of community among people who may not have many in-person interactions. Similar findings were reported by Best, Manktelow & Taylor (2014), who discovered that social media use was linked to higher self-esteem and better selfperception.

Apart from these benefits, social media use has also been associated with destigmatization of mental health issues (Koehler & Parrell, 2020). Stigma is defined as the shame, social rejection, or societal discrediting of people who are facing mental health issues (Kalichman, 2009; Goffman, 1963). It can be found in many forms such as self- stigma, when the patient himself/herself has a negative attitude towards his/her mental health problem, public stigma, when the general public has a negative attitude towards people suffering from mental health issues, professional stigma, when this kind of attitude comes from a professional in mental health care service and institutional stigma, which is the negative attitude of a culture or an organization towards mental health issues (Ahmedani, 2011; Corrigan, Powell, & Rüsch, 2012). As previous studies have discovered, using social media platforms can help in decreasing mental health stigma due to the fact that they offer a place for personal stories to be shared and

unheard voices to be heard, without limitations in terms of time or space (Betton, et al., 2018). Moreover, they offer people the chance to initiate protests against mental health stigma (for example in the form of a hashtag) (Betton, et al., 2018) and at the same time provide limitless and easy access to information regarding mental health, a fact which can also contribute to increasing awareness (Latha, Meena, Pravitha, Dasgupta, & Chaturvedi, 2020). The decrease of mental health - related stigma is extremely important for people suffering from mental health issues, as it has been found that stigma can be a key barrier to seeking mental health treatment or help (Clement, et al., 2014; Corrigan, Druss, & Perlick, 2014).

It is also important to highlight the fact that, especially during and after the COVID-19 pandemic, social media have been extensively used for health-related goals, offering people a valuable sense of social connection, and belonging to a community (Chen & Wang, 2021). Furthermore, social media platforms made it easier for people to access mental health resources, advice, and support, such as online support groups or counseling, which helped decreasing feelings of anxiety, isolation, and distress in challenging times (Torales, O'Higgins, Castaldelli-Maia, & Ventriglio, 2020). Rosen et al. (2022) also highlighted the fact that the majority of people were using social media in a positive way during the imposed lockdowns, such as for social support, finding new hobbies, or exercising.

In light of the above, it can be inferred that social media has become a popular and easily accessible resource for individuals seeking information, support, and community in relation to mental health (Akhther & Sopory, 2022). Platforms like Facebook, Youtube, Instagram, and TikTok provide spaces where users can find personal stories, educational content, mental health campaigns, and advice from professionals and peers (Alhabash & Ma, 2017). Thus, many studies have been conducted examining the relationship of each social media platform with mental health.

Facebook

When it comes to Facebook, the platform with more than 2,9 billion active users in April 2023 (Data Reportal, 2023), a significant part of the literature has underlined the risks lurking in the potential addiction that could be provoked by using the platform excessively. The most common mental health issues that have been linked to excessive Facebook use are stress, insomnia, corporal symptoms, as well as depression in some more severe cases (Hanprathet, Manwong, Khumsri, Yingyeun, & Phanasathit, 2015; Pontes, Taylor, & Stavropoulos, 2018; Stockdale & Coyne, 2020; Pantic, et al., 2012).

Additionally, the social phenomenon known as "fear of missing out" (FoMo), described by British psychologists as the "*pervasive apprehension that others might be having rewarding experiences from which one is absent*" (Przybylski, Murayama, DeHaan, & Gladwell, 2013), has been linked to rising anxiety and concern among some Facebook users when they cease using the platform (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2017). As far as the reasons why Facebook has been repeatedly connected to addiction, both

cognitive and psychosocial risk factors have been uncovered in various studies (Butt, 2021). One prevalent cognitive risk factor is the low self - efficacy among some users to reduce the time spent on the platform, which is mostly due to the fear that negative consequences like diminished socialization with friends will ensue (Yu, Wu, & Pesigan, 2016). This is also confirmed by findings that identify loneliness, a significant psychosocial risk factor associated with Facebook addiction, as a primary reason why users engage with Facebook (Yu, Wu, & Pesigan, 2016). Moreover, another motivation that has been connected to Facebook use and might lead to addictive behavior is the alleviation of boredom (Stockdale & Coyne, 2020). However, this motivation has also been associated with negative effects to mental health, as it is believed that individuals turning to Facebook to combat boredom may develop a dependency, gradually starting to perceive offline activities and engagements as less engaging engaging (Stockdale & Coyne, 2020).

Despite the negative consequences mentioned above, several studies illustrate that the effects of Facebook on mental health heavily depend on the way the user utilizes the platform (Ziv & Kiasi, 2016). Brailovskai & Margraf (2017) discovered that Facebook use can bolster self - esteem by amplifying feelings of support, life satisfaction and mental strength (resilience), especially for individuals with lower selfconfidence, who might find face-to-face communication challenging. Due to the benefits that Facebook can have by facilitating communication, many studies have reached an agreement that it is a platform appropriate for providing mental health support (Watkins, Allen, Goodwill, & Noel, 2017; Calder, et al., 2020; Szlyk, Deng, Xu, Krauss, & Cavazos - Rehg, 2020). It has also been supported that the ability provided by Facebook to its users to express themselves and their thoughts through their posts, is a way to identify individuals grappling with severe mental health issues, and potentially averting risky or fatal situations, such as suicide attempts (Egan, Koff, & Moreno, 2013). Regarding the social support provided on Facebook, which could also be described as an online type of peer-to-peer support, it has been associated with decrease in depression symptoms (Frison & Eggermont, 2015), lower levels of victimization (Cole, Nick, Zelkowitz, Roeder, & Spinelli, 2016; McConnell, Clifford, Korpak, Phillips II, & Birkett, 2017) as well as reduction in perceived loneliness (Lee, Noh, & Koo, 2013; Seo, Kim, & Yang, 2016). However, studies specify that private communication on this platform is much more beneficial (Frison & Eggermont, 2015) compared to searching for social support through public posts, which can turn out to be even harmful for a person's mental health (Zhang, 2017).

Instagram

Instagram is another social media platform which has been extensively studied in regard to its effects on people's mental health. Research illustrates that individuals who use Instagram excessively, report worse mental state compared to both "normal" or non-Instagram users (Schmuck, Karsay, Matthes, & Stevic, 2019), while they also report higher scores on different kinds of mental disorders such as depression, anxiety, eating disorders or addiction to alcohol (Ceballos, Howard, Dailey, Sharma, & Grimes, 2018; Griffiths, Murray, Krug, & McLean, 2018; Yurdagül, Kircaburun, Emirtekin, Wang, & Griffiths, 2019). As Holland & Tiggemann (2016) stress, posting and receiving comments on visual content, explains why image - based social media platforms, such as Instagram, have been associated with eating disorders and negative effects on body image. Moreno et al. (2016), apart from confirming in their study that the excessive Instagram use can cause body image issues, also found that it can even lead young people to self-harm. As far as young women in particular are concerned, they seem to be the most affected group by Instagram use, regarding their mental health, as this image - based platform makes them compare themselves with unrealistic versions of others in a never-ending feed (Ulvi, et al., 2022). It is a common phenomenon for Instagram users to compare their everyday selves to carefully selected, frequently modified photographs of others (Fardouly, Pinkus, & Vartanian, 2017). As most users follow both friends and celebrities on Instagram, the lines between plain people and celebrities are getting blurred on the platform and users tend to compare their appearance to idealized photos, a fact which leads them to misleading social comparisons (Choukas-Bradley, Roberts, & Maheux, 2021). However, it should be underlined that the effects that Instagram's potential effects on mental health heavily depend on the way the user utilizes the platform (Abrams, 2021). Instagram users mostly tend to suffer from negative psychological effects when they engage in social comparison or crave for popularity online. Across all age groups, these activities have been associated with increases in depressive symptoms, social anxiety, and body image issues, as well as with self-esteem deterioration (Sherlock & Wagstaff, 2019). Moreover, as in the case of Facebook, cyberbullying and victimization seem to be positively correlated with time spent on Instagram (Longobardi, Settanni, Fabris, & Marengo, 2020).

On the other hand, studies have shown that Instagram can foster positive psychological effects, reducing levels of anxiety, despair, and loneliness while enhancing self-esteem (Mackson, Brochu, & Schneider, 2019). This is attributed to Instagram's feature, common to most platforms, of enabling its users to receive supportive feedback from other users through likes, comments, or real-time chatting (Mackson, Brochu, & Schneider, 2019). This practice is perceived as some kind of validation which has been found to increase their self-confidence and provide them with a sense of social support (Valkenburg, Peter, & Schouten, 2006). In addition to this, it also mitigates loneliness and satisfies the need for belonging by enabling users to tag others in their posts and thus foster a feeling of community or by leaving comments on photographs to encourage more social engagement (Keep & Amon, 2017). Furthermore, health-related posts on Instagram have also been correlated with one's mental health and emotional wellbeing (Mullis, Nguyen, & Pappas, 2021). The Selfcare information disseminated on social media, and Instagram particularly, can be useful for users seeking ways to alleviate their stress (Godfrey, et al., 2010). At the same time, being surrounded by people who promote or engage with self-care activities makes it easier for anyone to prioritize their self-care and their mental health protection (Godfrey, et al., 2010).

YouTube

Another prominent social media platform pertaining to mental health - related issues, is YouTube (Giustini, Ali, Fraser, & Kamel Boulos, 2018). In their evaluation of how consumers react to information on mental health issues offered on social media platforms, Martini et al. (2018) found that Facebook and YouTube were the platforms used more often for seeking mental health information. In line with these findings, a study by Naslund et al. (2019) found that YouTube was utilized by 90% of teens who visited community mental health services at the time. Younger generations usually turn to YouTube for mental health - related information mainly for two reasons (Oliphant, 2013; Zhao & Zhang, 2017). The first one is because of the benefits that video has as a visual medium and the second one is the ability to browse anonymously (O'Reilly, et al., 2019). Access to useful psychoeducational content targeted at a range of different age groups, makes it a go-to platform for mental health communication (Godwin, Khan, & Yellowlees, 2017; Diamantaki & Ziavras, 2022; Lam, Tsiang, & Woo, 2017; Shu & Woo, 2020). In addition to the potential for information-seeking and informationproviding on YouTube, media and health communication academics have also underlined among the platform's benefits the possibility that users have to connect and interact with each other within specific health groups (Frohlich & Zmyslinski-Seelig, 2012; Kuehn, 2011; Tian, 2010). According to a 2017 study (Royal Society for Public Health (RSPH)) on young people's social media use in the UK, YouTube was found to be the only social media network that had a beneficial effect on depression, anxiety, and loneliness in users between the ages of 14 and 24.

Additionally, YouTube comments can also prove to be useful for users suffering from mental health disorders, due to the fact that they can function as a peer support system (Naslund, Grande, Aschbrenner, & Elwyn, 2014). Both YouTube video creators and users, in the comments section, can significantly contribute to the decrease of stigmatization, by highlighting the advantages of receiving therapy (Gaus, Jolliff, & Moreno, 2021). This is of vital importance as decreased levels of stigmatization have been associated with help-seeking behaviors (Calear, Batterham, & Christensen, 2014; Gulliver, Griffiths, & Christensen, 2010; Rowe, et al., 2014). The highest level of user engagement seems to be created in personal account videos, as according to two studies (Baquero, 2018; Devendorf, Bender, & Rottenberg, 2020), approximately 30 to 33 percent of depression - related videos on the platform were produced by amateur vloggers or by people who had personally experienced mental health disorders. However, studies stress that comments on YouTube videos can also have reverse effects on mental health, as, depending on the user, a comment might also urge others to avoid seeking professional help, criticize a clinical treatment, or give fake information about mental health care services (Gaus, Jolliff, & Moreno, 2021).

As in the case of all social media platforms previously mentioned, the excessive use of YouTube can possibly lead to harmful effects on users' mental health. In most studies, any use of YouTube lasting more than two hours per day is deemed as being of high frequency and is linked to a higher risk of addiction (Klobas, McGill, Moghavveni, & Paramanathan, 2019). Intense parasocial relationships with other YouTubers have been found to lead to YouTube addiction (Bérail, Guillon, & Bungener, 2019). A parasocial relationship is created when a person develops a relationship with someone they don't truly know, just by watching or reading about them in the media (Dibble, Hartmann, & Rosaen, 2015; Horton & Wohl, 1956). Extreme forms of parasocial relatioships can have detrimental effects on mental health and emotional well-being (Maltby, et al., 2004). The most vulnerable and most easily affected category, on which excessive YouTube use seems to have the most negative effects, are young people up to the age of 29, who are the most susceptible to loneliness and mental health issues (Balcombe & De Leo, 2023). A recent study (Cara, Winstone, Sloan, Davis, & Haworth, 2022) examined the demographics of young adult social media users along with results related to their mental health in combination with the platforms they used (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Snapchat, and YouTube) and discovered that YouTube users were most likely to experience worse mental health outcomes. One possible explanation for this, apart from the creation of para-social relationships which, as mentioned above, can have harmful effects on people's mental health, is the negative correlation that has been found between YouTube use, sleep loss and cognitive failures (Mahmood-ul-Hassan, et al., 2022). The deterioration of sleep quality and sleep loss has been associated with reduction in pleasant emotions and intensification of negative emotional reactions, which can lead to the deterioration of mental health in general (Columbia University, 2022). However, it should be noted that the possible detrimental effects of YouTube depend on the way it is being utilized as well as the mental health situation of each user, since the most vulnerable children and adolescents can be more easily affected (Balcombe & De Leo, 2023).

Despite the possibility for negative effects on YouTube users' well-being, it is worth noting that the benefits of consuming mental health content on this specific platform seem to overweigh the risks.

The effects of TikTok on mental health

Another platform which many young adults use extensively to address mental health issues and find health - related content is TikTok (Drillinger, 2022). With a variety of creative tools and effects available, TikTok is a social media platform that enables users to create and publish brief videos. With 755 million users as of 2022 (Statista, 2022), this network has gained phenomenal popularity among young people. Most of the studies conducted on the reasons why TikTok has become extremely popular among these audiences over the last few years, agree that its algorithm is what makes this platform special, as it gratifies the personalized needs of its users better than other social media platforms (Xu, Yan, & Zhang, 2019; Wang, 2022). In fact, TikTok did not stand out by offering new pioneering characteristics or affordances but rather by offering to the users a new way to introduce themselves, transforming the self-

representation model from the "networked self" (Papacharissi, 2011) to an "algorithmized self" (Bhandari & Bimo, 2022). This means that instead of providing users with a "stage" for presenting and creating their self through interaction with their social circles (Papacharissi, 2013), it offers them instead the opportunity to interact with different aspects of their own selves through the personalized algorithm (Bhandari & Bimo, 2022).

Although TikTok has received criticism for some of its content, specifically for the dissemination of fake news and inappropriate content, it has also been developed into a significant platform for sharing knowledge, advice, experiences, and support on mental health issues. While finding and watching enjoyable videos is the main motivation of active TikTok users (Kemp, 2022), the platform is also used by people to express their creativity, seek popularity, influence others and grow their social networks (Bossen & Kottasz, 2020). Furthermore, TikTok can also serve as a public arena for the debate of health issues (Basch, Meleo-Erwin, Fera, Jaime, & Basch, 2021) as well as for giving health advice (Zenone, Ow, & Barbic, 2020) with varied degrees of information reliability (Basch, Meleo-Erwin, Fera, Jaime, & Basch, 2021; Song, Zhao, Yao, & Ba, 2022; Kong, Song, Zhao, Zhu, & Sha, 2021). Hashtags like #mentalhealth, #anxiety, #mentalhealthmatters, #mentalhealthawareness, #depression, #anxiety, #stress. #stressmanagement, #selfcare. #mindmatters, #mentalhealthblogger, #endthestigmaofmentalhealth, #mentalhealthsupport and #mentalhealthwarrior are frequently used to share content that relates to mental health on Tik Tok. The fact that the hashtags #MentalHealth and #MentalHealthMatters have received more than 16.4 billion and 13.5 billion views respectively, is indicative of this trend (Rosenblatt, 2021). Moreover, many mental health groups have also built a presence on the platform, while some users have even created dedicated profiles to offer advice and support (McCashin & Murphy, 2022). Realizing the increasing tendency of its users seeking mental health advice and support on TikTok, the platform announced in 2021 that it would introduce new features for users who were experiencing suicidal thoughts (Rosenblatt, 2021). These new capabilities included a global resource list of crisis hotlines, guidelines on how to interact securely with people who may be in crisis, as well as access to resources such as the "Crisis Text Line" helpline, anytime users search for hashtags like #suicide (Rosenblatt, 2021). Additionally, on its official website, TikTok provides a dedicated well-being guide, encouraging its users to "build a supportive environment for the community members" (TikTok, n.d.).

The benefits

Research shows that TikTok can play a crucial part in the public dialogue that has opened about mental health nowadays in two ways. The first one is by focusing on key concerns through content made by its users (Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022) and the second one is by creating a platform for these issues to be discussed in the general public (Basch, Yalamanchili, & Fera , 2021; Herrick, Hallward, & Duncan , 2021). Researchers found that young people enjoyed the opportunity to share their experiences

online, highlighting the easy access, the anonymity, the feeling of acceptance, the sense of control, and the reduction of stigma as significant reasons why they valued the platform (MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021). TikTok can furthermore promote public knowledge, not necessarily restricted to mental health, and offer its users the chance to exchange opinions on issues of public interest, contributing this way to a broader and more inclusive discussion (Eghtesadi & Florea, 2020). Indicative examples showing that information sharing, and educational content production is now taking place on the platform are the hashtags #AcademicTikTok, #LearnOnTikTok, and #ProfessorsofTikTok, which include, inter alia, mental health information (MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021).

One major difference that TikTok has, compared to other social media platforms, is the fact that the first thing a user sees when opening the application is a never - ending stream of videos, which the platform's algorithm predicts the user would enjoy, based on the videos that he/she has watched in the past (Gallagher, 2022). The difference is that these videos are not created by the user's friends and family but rather by strangers (Geyser, 2023). This can create two important advantages for a user searching for mental health content on TikTok. The first one is the anonymity guaranteed to them, as they can post any mental health - related video and not be seen by their friends and family and the second one is their ability to participate in mental health communities outside of their immediate networks (Gallagher, 2022). Furthermore, TikTok can function as an ideal platform for peer support provision, due to its high engagement rates (Herrman, 2019). Specifically, engagement rates can reach up to 18% for small creators on TikTok, while the same percentage for Instagram is 4% and for Youtube just 2% (Geyser, 2023). What is more, Generation Z, which constitutes almost half of TikTok users worldwide (42%) (McLachlan, 2023), reports to perceive video sharing as a source of confidence boost rather than a source of insecurity (Muliadi, 2020). Apart from video sharing, the comments on TikTok mental health - related videos, which can include personal experiences, praise or agreement with the creator, seem to also be beneficial for users struggling with mental health issues (Gallagher, 2022). Praising someone for their effort is of vital importance, especially for people suffering from mental disorders, as it has been found to be associated with boost in motivation for coping with challenging tasks (Droe, 2012). What is interesting in the case of TikTok's effects, is the fact that despite having been accused of increasing perceived levels of stress of its users (Fan, 2023), its mental health content seems, based on the aforementioned, to be beneficial in decreasing the anxiety and stress levels, while also helping them cope with symptoms of even more severe mental issues, such as depression (Gallagher, 2022; Droe, 2012).

In order to examine this antithesis, the follow hypothesis was formed:

H1: Regular exposure to mental health - related content on TikTok is associated with lower levels of users' perceived symptoms of anxiety, loneliness, and depression.

#PsychWardStories, where creators discuss their experiences with inpatient mental health treatment, is one of the most popular topics related to mental illness on TikTok, with 164 million people having watched videos with this hashtag (TikTok, n.d.). As a TikTok creator on #PsychWardStories underlines, she uses the platform as a coping mechanism for dealing with the daily challenges of mental illness, while another creator stresses that her main goal, when creating mental health – related videos, is to make people feel less lonely and add some humor to this difficult situation they are experiencing (Schofield, 2020). As Gallagher (2022) highlights, the fact that TikTok's algorithm only presents mental health content to users who will, most probably, respond favorably to it and want to see more of it, promotes a sense of community for users suffering from mental health issues.

What is more regarding TikTok's benefits as a platform providing mental health advice, is that, apart from familiarizing users with mental health – related terminology, it also offers them the validation that they are not the only ones who suffer from a mental disorder or illness, while giving them a strong sense of community where people facing the same difficulties can share their experiences and support each other (Amato, 2022). As Basch et al. confirm (Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022), from the top liked videos included in their study, 72% included comments which provided support or validation, while 62% of them described different mental health illnesses and disorders leading to a significant increase in mental health awareness. TikTok is often referred to as a resource for "humanizing" content about mental health. It improves the knowledge of people about sensitive mental health issues and enables therapists to explain concepts and overviews of diagnoses to a larger audience (Onebright Mental Health, 2022). This "humanization" of mental health issues and mental health illnesses and disorders seems to also lead to their destigmatization, especially among young people (Tavassoli, 2022).

One characteristic example of this is the Tourette's syndrome, which only affects 0.05 to 3.00 percent of individuals worldwide (Freeman, et al., 2000) and is frequently the target of stigmatization (Cox, et al., 2019). However, it has a massive following on TikTok, with almost 10 billion views (Tavassoli, 2022). This shows that people suffering from Tourette's syndrome might be positively affected by the awareness brought to their illness and its symptoms on TikTok (Tavassoli, 2022). The decreased levels of stigmatization have also been connected with a more positive attitude towards help seeking behaviors (Calear, Batterham, & Christensen, 2014; Gulliver, Griffiths, & Christensen, 2010; Rowe, et al., 2014), a fact which makes the "humanization" of mental health information on TikTok even more important. Moreover, apart from destignatization itself, increased mental health awareness and mental health literacy has also been positively associated with confidence in dealing with mental health symptoms as well with more positive attitude towards seeking professional help (Confectioner, et al., 2021). Of course, it should be underlined that, even though the mitigation of stigma is widely accepted as a positive effect of TikTok's open discussion on mental health issues, Moseley (2023) underlines a risk that hides behind that. As she highlights, mental health content uploaded by non-professionals could sometimes

increase the stigma, that already exists around mental health illnesses, by disseminating information that could easily be misunderstood or misinterpreted (Moseley, 2023).

Based on the aforementioned, the following hypotheses were formed in order to be tested in the current research study:

H2: There is a positive correlation between regular exposure to mental health content on TikTok and users' perceived levels of awareness of mental health issues.

H3: TikTok users who utilize the platform for mental health advice and support report a significant decrease in perceived stigmatization of mental health issues.

H4: TikTok users who utilize the platform as a source of mental health support are more likely to recognize the need for professional help with mental health issues when necessary.

Moreover, based on TikTok's astonishing popularity during the last years and taking into consideration all the benefits mentioned above, the following hypothesis was also formed, in order to examine whether its benefits outweigh the benefits of other social media platforms providing mental health content:

H5: TikTok is regarded as the most favored social media platform for acquiring mental health advice and support.

The disadvantages

Despite all the benefits mentioned above, TikTok has also been harshly criticized about the misleadingness of the mental health advice disseminated on the platform. A 2022 study (Yeung, Ng, & Abi - Jaoude, 2022) published in the Canadian Journal of Psychiatry is indicative of how harmful and misleading the mental health information provided on TikTok can be. Specifically, the researchers of this study examined the top 100 videos about ADHD (Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder), 52% of which were found to be medically inaccurate, 27% were solely based on the authors' personal experiences, while only 21% were found to be helpful compared to diagnostic criteria (Martin, 2023). Another study conducted by the medical group "PlushCare" (PlushCare, 2022) found similarly negative results. Medical experts examined 500 TikTok videos with the hashtags #mentalhealthtips and #mentalhealthadvice to evaluate the recommendations and advice for accuracy and potential risk. The researchers came to the conclusion that 14.2% of the videos included in the study, contained potentially harmful content, while 83.7% of the mental health advice provided was false (Martin, 2023). Moreover, what also raised concern was the fact that only 9% of the users giving advice on the platform were qualified to do so, while in 99% of videos, there was no notice stating that the author was unqualified to offer mental health advice (PlushCare, 2022). What makes the dissemination of misinformation even more concerning, is the potential growth of self-diagnosis cases, which have been recorded by TikTok users (Martin, 2023).

Drawing from all the above regarding the dissemination of misleading and false information, the following hypothesis has been formed to examine how TikTok users perceive the platform's reliability.

H6: TikTok is generally perceived as an unreliable source of advice on mental health issues. Perceived reliability is increased in the sample that utilizes the platform for mental health content.

Moreover, apart from the criticism regarding the misinformation provided on critical issues, such as mental health – related topics, TikTok has also been criticized about its "increasingly personal nature", which might replace users' social interaction (Paul, 2022). Although all social media platforms have been criticized about this possible negative effect on their users, TikTok's increased popularity during COVID-19 pandemic is often considered as "an illustration of the impact that it had on people's lives" (Paul, 2022). In addition to this, TikTok videos have raised concerns about the fact that they sometimes might prove to be "triggering" and harmful to certain viewers (Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022). Furthermore, despite the platform's popularity, a recent study (Pruccoli, De Rosa, Chiasso, Perrone, & Parmeggiani, 2022) found that TikTok was associated, during the COVID-19 pandemic, with decrease in its users' self-esteem (in 59% of the respondents), with a small percentage even reporting experiences of body-shaming.

Theoretical framework conclusion

What can be concluded from the theoretical framework presented above, is the fact that TikTok, as all the social media platforms, can have both detrimental and beneficial effects to its users. Long time since, even before the prevalence of Web 2.0, peer-to-peer support has been found to be significantly helpful for people dealing with mental health - related issues, mainly due to the fact that it successfully fosters a sense of community among them (Brewer, 1991; McKenna & Bargh, 1998; Davidson, et al., 1999). Moreover, it has been associated with improvements of mental health state by increasing self-confidence, self-esteem, hope and participation of the patient in the treatment process (Puschner, et al., 2019; Klodnick, Sabella, Brenner, & Krzos, 2014; Pettitt, 2003). Nowadays, that the dominance of social media is profound, it seems that *peer-to-peer support* has been transferred to the online world and specifically to the social media platforms (Clarke, Kuosmanen, & Barry, 2015; Ong & Toh, 2023). Although, online peer-to-peer support has some important advantages compared to the traditional peer-to-peer support, such as no limits regarding time and space (Clarke, Kuosmanen, & Barry, 2015), it can also hide risks for the users' mental health and particularly the mental health of those being more vulnerable to mental health - related issues (Beeres, Andersson, Vossen, & Galanti, 2021; Houghton, et al., 2018; Drouin, Kaiser, & Miller, 2012; Orben & Przybylski, 2019; Song, et al., 2014). YouTube (Diamantaki & Ziavras, 2022; Osman, Mohamed, Elhassan, & Shoufan, 2022), Instagram (Arendt, 2019; Bogolyubova, Upravitelev, Churilova, & Ledovaya, 2018) and Facebook (Burke & Kraut, 2016; Song, et al., 2014) have all been studied in the

past in regards with their effects on mental health and have been found to be both useful and harmful depending on the way they are being utilized.

TikTok, which has undeniably become a highly popular social media platform especially among young adults (Feldkamp, 2021; McLachlan, 2023), has also been rising among the platforms providing mental health – related content (Drillinger, 2022). Its special algorithm, which allows every user to watch exactly the type of content they are looking for (Bhandari & Bimo, 2022; Yaqi, Lee, & Liu, 2020; Xu, Yan, & Zhang, 2019), makes it an ideal platform for users who want easy access to a never-ending stream of mental health - related issues (Gallagher, 2022), while maintaining their anonymity, since their feed and their posts are not seen by friends and family but mostly by strangers (Geyser, 2023). Among TikTok's benefits, community building is also included, as the platform offers a space for people suffering from mental health - related problems to share their experiences and offer support to each other (Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022; MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021). Taking into consideration the positive effects of peer - to - peer support both offline and online, it can thus be suggested that the support offered on TikTok can have positive effects on people's mental health and be associated with a significant decrease in symptoms of anxiety, loneliness and depression (H1). Furthermore, TikTok has also been praised about the fact that, through the video content it provides, it helps in "humanizing" knowledge related to mental health, making it easier for anyone on the platform to learn more about complex concepts or mental health symptoms (Onebright Mental Health, 2022). This can help in turn to increasing mental health awareness among the platform's users, who utilize it as a source of mental health advice (H2). Research has found that an increase in mental health awareness is positively associated with decrease in perceived stigmatization regarding mental health issues (H4) (Tavassoli, 2022), which in turn has been found to increase the willingness of people to seek professional mental help when needed (H3) (Calear, Batterham, & Christensen, 2014; Gulliver, Griffiths, & Christensen, 2010; Rowe, et al., 2014). Taking into account the aforementioned benefits that TikTok has as a platform, it could be suggested that it has nowadays replace other social media platforms, such as YouTube, in becoming the most preffered platform for mental health – related content (H5).

However, what also needs to be further examined is whether users are aware of the dissemination of fake news and false information on TikTok (Martin, 2023; PlushCare, 2022) and whether they trust it as a reliable source (H6). TikTok's unreliability could possible overweigh some of its benefits, since it cannot effectively help in increasing mental health awareness or assist in destigmatization of mental health - related issues if it provides information that are not correct or true. The current study aims to evaluate if TikTok, and particularly mental health content on TikTok, can indeed prove to be beneficial for people suffering from mental health problems, while also examining whether users are aware of the risks hiding behind this type of content provided on the platform.

The conceptual framework visualized below can help in better presenting the hypotheses examined in the current study.



Methodology

Research Design

The method that was used for the current research study was the survey method. This approach is particularly advantageous due to its ability to collect information from a large number of participants in a quick and cost-effective manner, compared to other research methodologies (Jones, Baxter, & Khanduja, 2013).

This rapid data collection facilitates the generalization of results, ensuring that the study's findings have broader implications and can guide subsequent research (Wimmer & Dominick, 2009; Tanner & Johanson, 2018). This feature makes it particularly useful and effective for researching topics that encompass a large and varied population, such as social media users (Kempf-Leonard, 2005). Moreover, surveys, can yield useful quantitative data, which can be used to quantify the level of agreement or disagreement concerning specific mental health issues (Frechtling, 2002).

Answering the questionnaire online is convenient and practical for both researchers and participants (Nayak & Narayan, 2019). Regarding the participants, it facilitates candid responses to questions, as anonymity can eliminate the fear of exposure (Ong & Weiss, 2000; Manfreda, Bosnjak, Berzelak, Haas, & Vehovar, 2008). Additionally, it, reduces the potential bias in the responses due to the reduced influence of the researcher, resulting from the social presence effect (Mayer, 2021). Of course,

these benefits of the online questionnaire are valid under the condition that all personal data are anonymized, as in the current study. Furthermore, online questionnaires give participants the flexibility to respond at their leisure, which can increase participation rates (Krosnick & Presser, 2009; Couper, 2000). As far as the benefits for the researchers are concerned, online surveys allow for adjustments or changes to be done quickly and easily, while they also make the distribution of questionnaires to large populations much more convenient than in the past, as a questionnaire can now be sent simultaneously to hundreds of people in different areas with just one click (Lavrakas, 2008).

Moreover, the processes of data collection and analysis are automated for online surveys, significantly reducing the time and effort traditionally required by the researcher for these tasks (Fowler, 2009). This efficiency allows for a broader and more diverse sample, enabling a more accurate representation of the target population and enabling safer generalization of findings (Dillman, Smyth, & Christian, 2014). Additionally, the online survey method is cost effective, given that it eliminates the costs of printing and distributing the questionnaires on paper (de Leeuw, Hox, & Dillman, 2008). Furthermore, the online survey method is cost-effective, eliminating expenses associated with printing and distributing paper questionnaires (de Leeuw, Hox, & Dillman, 2008).

However, the survey research method has limitations (Andrade, 2020). For instance, self-selection bias can occur when certain individuals choose to participate in the survey, particularly in the case of online surveys (Bethlehem, 2010), which can lead to a biased sample, not truly representative of the entire whole population (Johnson, Beaton, Murphy, & Pike, 2000). To mitigate this risk, the current study used a purposive sample method by selecting respondents who are most likely to provide valuable insights on the research topic.

Another potential limitation is social desirability bias, where participants may respond in ways that are deemed more socially acceptable, rather than reflecting their actual feelings or experiences (Latkin, Edwards, Davey-Rothwell, & Tobin, 2018). In order to address this limitation, the survey included both favorably and negatively phrased statements to assess users' perspectives and experiences with TikTok (Dunsch, Evans, Macis, & Wang, 2018). The survey was answered anonymously by participants in order to encourage truthful answers. In addition, the survey featured a relatively small number of questions to prevent a low response rate among the participants (Sharma, 2022).

Participants

For this study, a purposive sampling method was employed to select participants who met specific criteria, ensuring they had relevant experience with TikTok use and could provide insightful responses. The common variable among all participants was the fact that they were active users of TikTok. This ensured that participants' responses were directly related to the research questions, enhancing the validity and reliability of the results. Moreover, it eliminated the inclusion of individuals who could answer hypothetically rather than based on their own personal experiences. What was crucial, however, was the fact that the survey was constructed with care, creating a safe and supportive environment that encouraged participants to candidly share their views on this sensitive topic (Wu, Zhao, & Fils- Aime, 2022).

To recruit participants for the research study, the following methods were used:

- 1. Leveraging the researcher's personal network, by sharing the survey on the researcher's Facebook, Instagram and TikTok personal accounts.
- 2. Reaching out via online communities, such as Facebook Pages and Groups related to mental health.
- 3. Finding research participants through social media. For the purposes of the research study, the questionnaire was distributed on TikTok, as on this platform the chances were higher of finding the appropriate participants. This included apart from the researcher's personal account, the sharing of the survey in the comments section of relevant, mental health related TikTok videos.
- 4. Using snowball sampling, where already involved individuals helped reach out to other potential participants.

Data Collection & Analysis

An online questionnaire was used as the methodological instrument of the survey. An online research description directed recipients to a Qualtrics link, which contained the study information, consent form, and the survey. Data for the study was gathered through the use of a questionnaire. The questionnaire was designed to gather information from participant TikTok users about their experience from being exposed to mental health - related content on the platform. The questions were designed to obtain meaningful information that corresponds to the study's goals and hypotheses.

The questionnaire also drew from scales used on relevant bibliography found in the literature review. Such scales were the ATSPPH-SF scale developed by Fischer & Farina (1995) to assess attitudes regarding mental health seeking, the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) originally developed by Cohen et al. (1983) to measure stress, the ULS-8 Loneliness Scale (Xu, Qiu, Hahne, Zhao, & Hu, 2018) measuring perceived loneliness, as well as the MICA Scale (Gabbidon, et al., 2013) assessing stigmatization. All the scales used in the questionnaire are described in detail in the Results section (in the Reliability tests part).

The questionnaire was organized logically, with a clearly defined flow of questions. It started with a preliminary question about TikTok usage, while the subsequent sections addressed the research hypotheses, ensuring that each question added to the overall research objectives. The questions on the survey were closed -

ended and the responses were evaluated using multiple - choice or Likert scales so as to capture the participants' opinions, perceptions, and experiences.

The questionnaire was designed in a focused way to ensure validity and reliability. Careful attention was given to the wording of questions to avoid bias. The questionnaire was designed to find a balance between collecting comprehensive data and respecting the time of participants. The questionnaire went through pilot testing to improve its accuracy in obtaining the needed by the researcher information.

To ensure the privacy and confidentiality of the participants, the questionnaire followed all the ethical standards and study procedures as approved by the Institutional Review Board at the ACG-Deree. At the beginning, an informed consent statement was provided, outlining the goal of the study, the voluntary nature of participation and the precautions that were taken to protect participants' anonymity and their data. Throughout the study, confidentiality was maintained, and participants' anonymity was protected in all reporting and analysis. At the end of the study, a debriefing form was presented to the participants with additional information about the research, including its purpose, significance, and potential implications.

The collected data from the questionnaires were analyzed using appropriate statistical techniques. This analysis helped uncover patterns, trends, and relationships between the data and helped the researcher reach some meaningful interpretations and conclusions that align with the research objectives and tested the stated hypotheses.

Reliability tests

Regarding the internal reliability, Cronbach's alpha reliability tests were conducted on SPSS for all the multi-item scales used in the online questionnaire.

As seen below, the reliability level was good (0,86) for the multi – item scale measuring the attitude towards professional help. To measure this, an 11-item, 5-point Likert scale, originally developed by Fischer & Farina, (1995) was used, anchored at 0= "strongly disagree" and 4 = "strongly agree".

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,867	11

A 5-item, 5-point Likert scale, adapted by Shah and Birur (2014), anchored at 1= "not aware at all" and 5= "extremely aware", was used to measure the perceived levels of awareness regarding mental health issues. The reliability level was good (0,88) for this scale, as can also be seen below.

Reliability Statistics	
Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,885	5

A 9-item, 5-point Likert scale, originally developed by Cohen et al. (1983), anchored at 0 = "never" and 4 = "very often", was used to measure the perceived levels of anxiety. The internal reliability level was also good (0,86).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,868,	9

A 7-item, 4-point Likert scale, adapted from Xu et al. (2018), anchored at 1= "never" and 4= "always", was used to measure the perceived levels of loneliness. The Cronbach's alpha reliability test showed that this scale's internal reliability was good (0,8).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,803	7

A 5-item, 4-point Likert scale, adapted from Zigmond & Snaith, anchored at 0= "not at all" and 3= "most of the time", was used for the measurement of the perceived levels of depression. This scale's internal reliability was found to be at an acceptable level (0,72).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,727	5

Trustworthiness was measured with two questions in the online questionnaire. The first question focused more on the users' general perception of TikTok's trustworthiness and reliability, while the second one focused more on how much the knowledge and the opinions provided by people/ profiles on TikTok can be trusted. For the first question, a 1-7 semantic differential scale, adapted from Ohanian (1990), was used, including the adjectives "dependable – undependable", "reliable-unreliable" and "trustworthy – untrustworthy". The scale's internal reliability was excellent (0,9).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,909	3

For the second question measuring trustworthiness, a 2-item, 5-point Likert scale, adapted from Wiedmann and Von Mettenheim (2020), was used, anchored at 1= "strongly disagree" and 5= "strongly agree". The internal reliability for this scale was found to be at a good level (0,85).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items	
,858	2	

Two questions were also used in order for the perceived stigmatization level, regarding mental health issues, to be measured. The first question included items concerning the stigmatization that one would feel if he/she was suffering from a mental health problem, while the second question included questions focusing only on the stigmatization that exists in society against people facing mental health problems. For the first question, a 5-item, 5-point Likert scale was used, adapted from Gabbidon et al. (2013), anchored at 1= "strongly disagree" and 5= "strongly agree". The internal reliability level for this scale was acceptable (0,71).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,719	5

For the second question measuring perceived stigmatization, another 5-item, 5-point Likert scale was used, adapted from Yeap & Low (2009), anchored at 1= "strongly disagree" and 5= "strongly agree". The reliability for this scale was the only one at a minimally acceptable level (0,69).

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
,699	5

Demographic distributions of the sample

Of the responses gathered on Qualtrics, 131 were deemed valid. Participants who answered that they do not use TikTok, were immediately redirected to the end of the survey and thus did not count as valid answers. Additionally, only fully completed questionnaires were considered as valid, as all questionnaires that were in progress were excluded. In total, 48 answers from non-TikTok users and incomplete questionnaires were excluded.

Out of the 131 participants, 88 were female and 43 were men, while no "other" and "prefer not to say" answers were collected. The majority of the participants (57 participants, 43,51%) were in the age group of 26-33, while 39,69% were between 18 and 25 years old. The "34-41" age group came third with a 7,63%, while "over 49" and "42-49" followed with 6,87% and 2,29% respectively.



Regarding the participants' education level, the vast majority of 55,73% were university or college graduates, while 33,59% had a Master's degree. Participants with a professional degree followed with 6.87%, while 3 participants (2,29%) were high school graduates and 2



As far as the participants' annual income level is concerned, many different answers were collected. A number of 37 (28,24%) participants reported they have a total annual income of less than 10,000 euros, while 36 (27,48%) participants answered that they earn between 10,000 and 19,999 euros per year. A significant part of the participants, amounting to 17,56%, earn 20,000 – 29,999 euros annually. The rest of the income categories collected less than 5% each, while 17 participants (12,98%) preferred not to answer this question.



Results

Motivations

One of the main questions of the online questionnaire was the one asking participants about motivations for using TikTok. Participants were asked to select all answers that applied. As it can be seen in the graph below, "procrastination" was found to be the most common reason why people use TikTok (79 participants selected it), while "recreation" was the second most usual motivation, with 62 participants selecting it. "Escapism" was the third most selected answer, which means that people use TikTok to escape reality and forget about their responsibilities. What is also interesting, is the fact that that mental health advice and support was the fourth most important need that TikTok users try to satisfy by using the platform (51 participants), a fact which highlights the importance of the current study examining the effects of TikTok on people's mental health. "Information exchange" was recorded in 45 answers and was also found to be among the main reasons of TikTok's popularity, while "ritual" followed with 32 participants choosing it among their main reasons for using the platform. "Social maintenance" was selected by 24 participants, "freedom of expression" by 20, "new connections" by 13 and "conformity"

by 12. "Experimentation" and "other reasons" were also recorded by 3 participants each. Regarding the "other reasons", the participants' answers were: "art ideas", "work" and "product reviews and DIYs".



Frequency of exposure to mental health content

The participants who selected "mental health advice and support" as one of the main reasons they use TikTok, were additionally asked how regularly they watch mental health content on the platform. Almost half of the participants (48,14%) are exposed to mental health content on TikTok a few times a week, while an impressive 41,18% watches TikTok mental health content once a day or several times per day (25,49)
and 15,69% respectively). 11,76% uses TikTok for mental health advice and support every few weeks, while 3.92% is exposed to this kind of content on TikTok less often.



Preferred social media platform for mental health content

In response to the question inquiring about participants' preferred platforms for seeking mental health content, advice, or support, TikTok emerged as the most favored platform with 57 participants identifying it as their primary choice. This was followed by Instagram, chosen by 30 participants.

The third most favorite social media platform for mental health content was Facebook, which was selected by 15 participants, while Twitter was selected by 6 participants. Another 23 participants selected the option "other" indicating that neither "Facebook", "Instagram", "TikTok", "Twitter" nor "Snapchat" were their favorite platform. Among these 23 answers, 9 participants preferred "YouTube", 1 favored "TikTok and YouTube", 1 opted for "Tumblr", and 4 indicated "No social media platform/ None". Another one was "a mental health professional/ Google/ articles/ YouTube" and 1 was "a friend". Six participants chose not to specify which the "other" preferred social media platform was for them when looking for mental health content.



Attitude towards professional help

Participants were moreover asked about their willingness to ask for professional help when facing mental health problems. For participants who had previously selected "mental health advice/support" among their main reasons for using TikTok, the question was phrased as follows: "*Before starting using TikTok for mental health content, had you ever discussed psychological problems with a mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, social worker?*)", while for those who had not selected "mental health advice/support" among their main reasons for using TikTok, the question was slightly changed, as follows: "*Have you ever discussed psychological problems with a mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, social worker?*)". The differentiation of the question between the two groups was made in order to see if TikTok could possibly have an effect in increasing people's willingness to visit a mental health professional when needed, or if people using TikTok had already a positive attitude towards mental health, even before starting using TikTok for mental health advice and support.

The results show that most of the participants who are currently regularly exposed to mental health content on TikTok, stating that mental health content is one of the main reasons they use the platform, had not previously discussed psychological problems with a mental health professional, as only 33,33% had already visited a mental health professional before starting using TikTok.



On the other hand, the answers were divided among the participants who do not use - at least on a regular basis - TikTok for mental health content. In particular, 52,50% have discussed mental health problems with a professional, while 47,50% have not.



Results regarding hypotheses

H1: In order to test the current study's first hypothesis, which suggested that the regular¹ exposure to mental health - related content on TikTok is associated with lower levels of users' perceived symptoms of anxiety, loneliness, and depression, three independent t-tests were conducted.

¹ In order for participants to be considered as "regularly" exposed to mental health-related content they had to include "mental health advice/support" among their main reasons for using TikTok.

The first independent t-test was conducted to determine if the regular exposure to mental health – related content (TikTok users regularly exposed to mental health content [M=1,79, SD= .73] vs TikTok users who are not regularly exposed to mental health content [M=2,15, SD= .67]) is associated with lower levels of perceived symptoms of anxiety. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = .78, p >.05), so equality of variances could be assumed. The difference of the anxiety levels between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) was found to be statistically significant, t = 2,91, p = .004, as the anxiety mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly higher than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.



The second independent t-test was conducted to determine if the regular exposure to mental health – related content (TikTok users regularly exposed to mental health content [M=1,83, SD= .56] vs TikTok users who are not regularly exposed to mental health content [M=2,06, SD= .58]) is associated with lower levels of perceived symptoms of loneliness. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = .45, p >.05), indicating that the assumption of equality of variances was met. The difference of the loneliness levels between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) was found to be statistically significant, t = 2,22, p = .02, as the loneliness mean value of the users who are not regularly

Participants who did not select "mental health advice/support" among the main reasons for using TikTok were considered as "not regularly exposed to mental health- related content".

exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly higher than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.

-Test											
	Grou	p Statisti	s								
	Which are the main reasons you use TikTok for? Please select all that apply Selected Choice Mental health advice/support	N	Mean	Std. Deviat		Std. Error Mean					
Fotal_loneliness	Other reasons	80	2,0661	,580	082	,06494	_				
	Mental health advice/support	51	1,8375	,561	35	,07861					
			Test for Eq Variances		dent Sa	mples Tes	st	t-test for Equality	of Means		
			/ariances		dent Sa	mples Tes	st Sig. (2-tailed)	t-test for Equality Mean Difference	of Means Std. Error Difference	95% Confidence Differe Lower	
Total_loneliness	Equal variances assumed	F	/ariances	uality of	dent Sa t 2,224			Mean	Std. Error	Differe	nce

The third independent t-test was conducted to determine if the regular exposure to mental health – related content (TikTok users regularly exposed to mental health content [M=.76, SD=.56] vs TikTok users who are not regularly exposed to mental health content [M=1,09, SD=.57]) is associated with lower levels of perceived symptoms of depression. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = .065, p > .05), so equality of variances could not be assumed. The difference of the depression levels between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) was found to be statistically significant, t = 3,20, p = .002, as the depression mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly higher than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.



H2: In order to test the second hypothesis, which suggested that there is a positive correlation between regular exposure to mental health content on TikTok and users' perceived levels of awareness of mental health issues, an independent t-test was conducted. The independent t-test aimed to determine if the regular exposure to mental health –related content (TikTok users regularly exposed to mental health content [M=3,99, SD= .65] vs TikTok users who are not regularly exposed to mental health content [M=3,76, SD= .96]) is associated with users' perceived levels of awareness of mental health issues . The Levene's test for equality of variances was significant (F = 9,40, p < .05), so equality of variances could not be assumed. The difference of the perceived levels of awareness between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) was not found to be statistically significant, t = 1,64, p = .10, as the awareness mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was not significantly lower than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.



H3: As far as the third hypothesis is concerned, which suggested that TikTok users who utilize the platform as a source of mental health support are more likely to recognize the need for professional help with mental health issues, when necessary, an independent t-test was conducted. The independent t-test aimed to determine if the use of TikTok as a source of mental health support (TikTok users utilizing TikTok for mental health content² [M=2,85, SD= .69] vs TikTok users who do not utilize TikTok for mental health content [M=2,52, SD= .76]) is associated with users' attitude towards professional mental help. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = 1,85, p > .05), so equality of variances could be assumed. The difference between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed), in recognizing the need for professional help when needed, was found to be statistically significant, t = -2,53, p = .01, as the mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly lower than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.

² Participants who selected "mental health advice/support" among the main reasons why they use TikTok.

	Group	Statistics									
	Which are the main reasons you use TikTok for? Please select all that apply Selected Choice Mental health advice/support	N	Mean	Std. Devia		td. Error Mean					
Total_willingness_help	Other reasons	80	2,5250	,76	321	,08533					
	Mental health	51	2,8592	69	9098	.09676					
	advice/support		2	ependent							
	advice/support	Levene's	2	ependent				t-test for Equality	of Means		
	advice/support	Levene's	Ind	ependent						95% Confidence Differe	
	advice/support	Levene's	Ind Test for Equ Variances	ependent			Sig. (2-tailed)	t-test for Equality Mean Difference	of Means Std. Error Difference		
Total_willingness_help	advice/support	Levene's	Ind Test for Equ Variances	ependent uality of		s Test	Sig. (2-tailed) ,012	Mean	Std. Error	Differe	ence

A second independent t-test was conducted in order to examine if the current attitude of TikTok users regularly exposed to mental health - related content towards professional mental help, is associated with their attitude before starting using TikTok. In particular, the independent t-test aimed to determine if the previous attitude of TikTok users who are regularly exposed to mental health –related content on TikTok (TikTok users who had already visited a mental health professional before using TikTok [M=2,97, SD=.80] vs TikTok users who had not visited a mental health professional before using TikTok [M=2,79, SD=.63]) is associated with users' current attitude towards professional mental help. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = 1,89, p > .05), so equality of variances could be assumed. The difference between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) was not found to be statistically significant, t = -.87, p = .38, as the mean value of the users who had not visited a mental health professional before using TikTok, was not significantly different than the mean value of the users who had visited a mental health professional before using TikTok.



A third independent t-test was conducted in order to examine if the current attitude of TikTok users not regularly exposed to mental health - related content towards professional mental help, is associated with whether they have visited a mental health professional. In particular, the independent t-test aimed to determine if the experience of TikTok users who are not regularly exposed to mental health –related content on TikTok (TikTok users who have already visited a mental health professional [M=2,73, SD= .71] vs TikTok users who have not visited a mental health professional [M=2,29, SD= .75)] is associated with users' attitude towards professional mental help. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = .28, p > .05), so equality of variances could be assumed. The difference between the two groups (those who have visited and those who have not visited a mental health professional) was found to be statistically significant, t = -2.7, p = .008, as the mean value of the users who have not visited a mental health professional, was significantly lower than the mean value of the users who have visited a mental health professional.

	Group	Statistics									
	Have you ever discussed psychological problems with a mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, social worker?)	N	Mean	Std. Devia		td. Error Mean					
Total_willingness_help	No	38	2,2919	75	000	40044					
			2,2919	,15	888	,12311					
	Yes	42	2,7359		181	,10983					
		42 Levene's	2,7359 Inde	,71 ependent	181	,10983	5	t-test for Equality	of Means		
		42 Levene's	2,7359 Inde Test for Equ Variances	,71 ependent uality of	181	,10983 : Test		t-test for Equality Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Differe	nce
	Yes	42 Levene's F	2,7359 Inde Test for Equ Variances	,71 ependent Jality of Sig.	Samples	,10983 5 Test	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean Difference	Std. Error Difference	Differe Lower	nce Upper
Total_willingness_help		42 Levene's F	2,7359 Inde Test for Equ Variances	,71 ependent uality of	181	,10983 : Test	Sig. (2-tailed) .008	Mean	Std. Error	Differe	nce

H4: An independent t-test was also conducted in order to test the 4th hypothesis, which suggested that TikTok users who utilize the platform for mental health advice and support report a significant decrease in perceived stigmatization of mental health issues. The independent t-test aimed to determine if the use of TikTok as a source of mental health support (TikTok users utilizing TikTok for mental health content [M=1,75, SD= .64] vs TikTok users who do not utilize TikTok for mental health content [M=2,17, SD= .58]) is associated with users' perceived stigmatization of mental health issues. The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F = .90, p > .05), so equality of variances could be assumed. The difference between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) regarding the perceived stigmatization of mental health issues was found to be statistically significant, t = 3,85, p = <.001, as the stigma mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly higher than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.

	Gro	up Statis	tics								
	Which are the main reasons you use TikTok for? Please select all that apply Selected Choice Mental health advice/support	N	Mean	Std. Deviati		d. Error Mean					
Total_stigma	Other reasons	80	2,1775	,580	04	,06485					
	Mental health	51	1,7588	,646							
	advice/support	51	1,7500			,09054 Samples	Test				
		Levene's	Test for Equ	Indep		,09054	Test	t-test for Equality	of Means		
		Levene's	Test for Equ	Indep			ſest	t-test for Equality Mean	of Means Std. Error	95% Confidence Differe	
		Levene's	Test for Equ Variances	Indep			Fest Sig. (2-tailed)				
Total_stigma		Levene's	Test for Equ Variances	Indepo uality of	endent S	Samples		Mean	Std. Error	Differe	ince

H5: The results regarding the fifth hypothesis, which suggested that TikTok is regarded as the most favored social media platform for acquiring mental health advice and support, was already answered in the findings presented above regarding the question that asked participants which social media platform they prefer when searching for mental health – related content.

H6: The sixth hypothesis suggested that TikTok is generally perceived as an unreliable source of advice on mental health issues and that perceived reliability is increased in the sample that utilizes the platform for mental health - related content.

To answer the first part of the hypothesis (TikTok is generally perceived as an unreliable source of advice on mental health issues), two different Means of the participants' answers were calculated. The first one generally concerned the reliability of the mental health advice offered on TikTok, while the second one focused specifically on the users' perceived reliability regarding the knowledge of the people/profiles on TikTok. As seen below, the Mean of perceived reliability generally for the advice offered on TikTok was M=3,51.

Descriptives

	Descriptive Statistics								
	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation				
Total_trustworthiness_A	131	1,00	7,00	3,5191	1,48679				
Valid N (listwise)	131								

The Mean of perceived reliability specifically concerning the knowledge of the people/profiles offering mental health advice on TikTok was M=2,62.

Descriptives

Descriptive Statistics

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Total_trustworthiness_B	131	1,00	4,50	2,6298	1,02016
Valid N (listwise)	131				

Two independent t-tests were conducted to answer the second part of the hypothesis. Specifically, the first independent t-test was conducted in order to determine if the use of TikTok as a source of mental health support (TikTok users utilizing TikTok for mental health content [M=4,03, SD= 1,17] vs TikTok users who do not utilize TikTok for mental health content [M=3,18, SD= 1,57]) is associated with users' perceived reliability of mental health advice provided on TikTok. The Levene's test for equality of variances was significant (F = 8,68, p < .05), so equality of variances could not be assumed. The difference between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) regarding the perceived reliability of mental health advice provided on TikTok was found to be statistically significant, t = -3,53, p = <.001, as the reliability mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly lower than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.

	Group	Statistics									
	Which are the main reasons you use TikTok for? Please select all that apply Selected Choice Mental health advice/support	N	Mean	Std. Devia		td. Error Mean					
Total_trustworthiness_A	Other reasons	80	3,1875	1,57	230	,17579					
	Mental health advice/support	51	4,0392	1,17	879	,16506					
			Inde	pendent	Samples	Test					
			Inde Test for Equ Variances	-	Samples	Test		t-test for Equality	ofMeans		
			Test for Equ Variances	-	Samples t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	t-test for Equality Mean Difference	of Means Std. Error Difference	95% Confidence Differe Lower	
Total_trustworthiness_A	Equal variances assumed		Test for Equ Variances	ality of	Samples t -3,318		Sig. (2-tailed) ,001	Mean	Std. Error	Differe	nce

The second independent t-test was conducted to determine if the use of TikTok as a source of mental health support (TikTok users utilizing TikTok for mental health content [M=3,11, SD= .75] vs TikTok users

who do not utilize TikTok for mental health content [M=2,31, SD= 1,04]) is associated with users' perceived reliability of the knowledge of the people/profiles offering mental health advice on TikTok. The Levene's test for equality of variances was significant (F = 9,38, p < .05), so equality of variances could not be assumed. The difference between the two groups (regularly exposed – not regularly exposed) regarding the perceived reliability of people offering mental health advice on TikTok was found to be statistically significant, t = - 5,05, p = <.001, as the reliability mean value of the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content, was significantly lower than the mean value of the users who are regularly exposed to mental health – related content.



Moreover, a Pearson correlation test was conducted to determine if the two different measurements of reliability presented above were correlated. The correlation was found to be statistically significant (p= <.001) and it was proven to be a positive one (627).

DataSetl] C:\SPSS - 1	DEREE\FIRST_Thesis_	September 3, 2	023_08.08.sa
	Correlations		
		Total_trustwo rthiness_A	Total_trustwo rthiness_B
Total_trustworthiness_A	Pearson Correlation	1	,627**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<,001
	N	131	131
Total_trustworthiness_B	Pearson Correlation	,627**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<,001	
	N	131	131

Discussion

In this research study, TikTok mental health – related content was examined with regards to its effect on the users' mental health. As found through the online survey, mental health is one of the main reasons why many people use TikTok nowadays, as searching for mental health advice and support was the fourth most common reason why someone could use TikTok for. This highlights the importance of the current study, by underlining the role that TikTok plays as an online type of *peer-to-peer support*.

Before analyzing each of the hypotheses examined in the current study, it is important to first identify the main needs that TikTok covers to its users, applying the Uses & Gratifications Theory. The majority of the participants stated that their most important motivation for using this platform is procrastination, which can be explained as the delay in starting or finishing a task that must be done by a certain deadline (Wolters & Corkin). TikTok's special features, such as its personalized algorithm (Xu, Yan, & Zhang, 2019), its endless stream of videos (Gallagher, 2022), the short duration of those videos (Williams, 2020), as well as the fun and entertaining element included in most of the content uploaded (Anderson, 2020), have helped skyrocketing the platform's popularity during the last years, making the platform an ideal place for "hiding" when responsibilities start piling up. However, the fact that procrastination is the top reason why most users utilize TikTok, can raise concerns for potential detrimental effects that this can have. To begin with, one of the main concerning effects, can be a potential significant decline in people's productivity (Petrillo, 2021). People may use TikTok to delay or postpone necessary work they have to complete, a fact which can impede in the long-term their goals

and ambitions. Additionally, even if users do not intentionally postpone the completion of necessary tasks while preferring to spend time on TikTok, the platform's addictive algorithm, which makes users lose track of time easily (Fan, Luo, & Wang, 2023), can result in time mismanagement (Zhao Z., 2021). The aforementioned potential reduction in productivity and the time mismanagement can be even more concerning for young adults, among whom the platform is impressively popular (McLachlan, 2023), as they might neglect their school or university and as a result gradually record a downward academic performance which can even lead to future career setbacks. Of course, the effects depend on the time spend on the platform, as not all users are prone to becoming addictive to the platform's use. In addition, the fact that TikTok often functions as an excuse for people to procrastinate, can have negative effects on their mental health, as procrastination has been correlated with increasing symptoms of depression, anxiety and stress (Johansson, et al., 2023; Sirois, 2023). Further research could shed more light on why procrastination is the most common reason why TikTok users utilize the platform and how this affects them.

Procrastination was followed by recreation and escapism, which were found to be the second and third most common reasons for utilizing TikTok. Although the two words might overlap each other or sometimes be used interchangeably, it should be noted that they reveal two different needs that are being covered by TikTok. Utilizing the platform for recreation means utilizing it for fun, rest, or leisure (Aydın & Arslan, 2015). This finding was expected, as entertainment has been repeatedly confirmed among the top needs covered by TikTok in previous studies (Falgoust, et al., 2022; Vaterlaus & Winter, 2021; Bossen & Kottasz, 2020; Lawrence, 2020). Escapism, on the other hand, although including most of the time entertaining content, covers a deeper need of the users to run away from unpleasant feelings, real-life problems or everyday stress (Gabbiadini, Baldissarri, Valtorta, Durante, & Mari, 2021). Despite the fact that most social media platforms can function as a form of escapism for their users, since they create their "own online world" (Kırcaburun & Griffiths, 2018), TikTok and Instagram seem to be the two most preferred platforms for covering this need, thanks to their flow state (Roberts & David, 2023). A flow state is achieved when users are so immersed into the platform that they would continue their activity even if it had negative consequences for them (Roberts & David, 2023). TikTok in particular is the platform with the higher levels of perceived time distortion, which does not let the users realize the time they spent on the platform (Craine, 2023). Although escapism can effectively help TikTok users to feel relieved from their everyday duties and stress, it can also hide risks for potential psychological implications when used for this reason, as it has been associated with decreased wellbeing (Lee & Chen, 2022). Apart from that, it can also result in people being socially isolated and socially anxious, as they know that, on the platform, they can avoid whatever makes them feel

uncomfortable in the real world and find a "shelter" to hide (Hussain, Jabarkhail, Cunningham, & Madsen, 2021). Moreover, escapism can in fact exacerbate all the real – life problems that someone might be facing, as postponing the problems' resolution does not mean that the problems actually disappear.

As mentioned above, the fourth most common reason for using TikTok, was searching for mental health advice and support. Although TikTok mental health – related content has been associated with positive effects on the users' wellbeing (Gallagher, 2022; Droe, 2012) and lower levels of perceived stigmatization (Tavassoli, 2022), the risks that may lurk behind profiles providing mental health support should not be ignored. It is true, that people who have suffered from mental health issues in the past, and managed to overcome them, can positively affect the mental health state of users who currently struggle with similar mental health problems, since watching these people sharing their experiences can make them feel hopeful (Amato, 2022; Burke, Pyle, Machin, Varese, & Morrison, 2019). However, users should always keep in mind that social media cannot, and should not, replace support provided by qualified professionals and should not be considered as a substitute of therapy, counseling or treatment, as not all cases can be handled in the same way (Hunter, 2022). Solely relying on social media mental health advice can prevent users from receiving the necessary treatment to effectively address their mental health issues. Even the users who only share their experience with other users and do not provide mental health advice, can, however, be harmful, due to the fact that there is no way to crosscheck whether the experience they describe is true or honest (Tavassoli, 2022). This can lead to unrealistic expectations or exaggeration of situations which can have adverse effects. Moreover, TikTok's personalized algorithm, which constantly matches each user's mood, thoughts and interests (Yaqi, Lee, & Liu, 2020; Xu, Yan, & Zhang, 2019; Bhandari & Bimo, 2022), can raise serious concerns in the case of people suffering from mental health disorders. If these people feel lonely, anxious or depressed, the possibilities are that they will most likely engage with similar content, which will in turn deteriorate their symptoms (Carville, 2023).

Additionally, relying on TikTok in order to get advice on mental health issues can also have detrimental effects, due to the dissemination of false or misleading information, which is a common phenomenon on the platform and cannot be easily detected (Martin, 2023; Yeung, Ng, & Abi - Jaoude, 2022). The fact that anyone can provide mental health advice on TikTok, without having to prove that he/she is qualified to do so, results in people's perception that they can be self – diagnosed based on the advice they receive, replacing once again professional mental care (Paul, 2022). Mental health professionals stress that in order to be able to make a correct diagnosis, one must have the ability to recognize a range of criteria rather than just a few symptoms, as well as monitor how the mental health

conditions are developing through time (Bahorsky, 2022). Furthermore, as far as mental health problems are concerned, they can be differently expressed depending on the patient's age or other subject diseases he/she might suffer from (Caron, 2022). It is thus profound that basing one's mental health diagnosis on false, inaccurate information only with regards to symptoms, can lead to worsening of their wellbeing and can sometimes be even life – threatening, since mental health is a very sensitive issue to be misinformed about. This is also a highly concerning finding because the fifth most common reason for users to utilize TikTok was information exchange. This means that TikTok users consider TikTok not only as a source of mental health advice, but as a source of information in general, a fact which can have negative effects on people's perceptions about important topics affecting their lives, such as politics, health and education (Muhammed & Mathew, 2022). In order to address this problem, users should be more properly educated on which information they should trust, while TikTok should also invest in fact – checking teams, which will detect harmful or false information.

Another motivation for using TikTok, as reported by the survey's participants, was "ritual". Based on the ritual view of communication, proposed by James W. Carey (1989), "ritual" in the context of TikTok suggests that people do not join the platform just for consuming content and information but rather for engagement, sharing experiences with other users, and socializing (Yang, 2020). TikTok users often follow certain norms, similar to their real - life routines, aiming to receive attention and interaction with the community (Yang, 2020). Connected with the ritual, in terms of engagement, is also another motivation reported by users for utilizing TikTok, social maintenance. Apart from the fact that TikTok motivates its users to interact with each other through likes, comments and personal messages, like any other social media platform, it also seems to assist in maintaining friendly or romantic relationships due to its interest - based algorithm. In other words, since most people select their close friends and partners based on their common interests, having a platform filled up with endless, interesting, personalized content, gives them many reasons to contact their loved ones every day just to share things that they would both enjoy watching or commenting together (Nemes, 2022). TikTok could thus be described as an endless list of things available to discuss with your company, based on your common interests, helping this way in maintaining social relationships. At the same time, of course, TikTok also contributes to fostering new relationships among people with the same interests, as the users have the chance to follow accounts with content they found interesting and engage with them through comments or messages (Sharabati, et al., 2022). Additionally, special TikTok features, such as live streaming or daily vlogs, based on everyday rituals as mentioned above, can also help bringing people together, even without knowing each other in real – life, as watching someone's everyday life can foster a feeling of diving into their life (Yang, 2020).

Furthermore, among the reasons why people use TikTok, freedom of expression was also reported. This finding is quite interesting, as it highlights a paradox that exists around the different ways the platform can function. It is undeniably true that TikTok is dominated by user – generated content, a fact which can in itself make users feel free to express themselves (Wagner, 2022). Not only that, but it also provides them with a variety of tools and features, which can help them be even more creative when expressing themselves (Lee & Abidin, 2023). In addition to these, TikTok is a platform giving space to niche communities, enabling this way users to get in touch with people, with whom they share common hobbies, interests, passions or beliefs, creating also a public arena for youth politics and activism to grow (Literat & Kligler-Vilenchik, 2023). However, some risks that are lurking should be highlighted, since TikTok can also promote conformist behaviors or trends among its users, depending on the way the platform is being utilized. As the majority of social media platforms (Forest & Wood, 2012; Reinecke & Trepte, 2014), TikTok establishes some norms, the most important of which, is the presentation of one's self in a favorable way (Barta & Andalibi, 2021). This leads to a social positivity bias, where positive portrayals of oneself are considered preferable and able to get more interaction from others than negative self-expressions. Of course, this can, in turn, raise concerns regarding the deterioration of the mental health state of people suffering from mental health issues and increase their stigmatization, as they will constantly feel that they should hide their real feelings (Barta & Andalibi, 2021). What is more, TikTok, which could be characterized as the ideal platform for virality due to its "For You Page", promotes a wide range of trends among its users, which foster a conformist culture (Pellathy, 2021). This means that if someone does not follow the trend, then he/she is instantly characterized as "other", a phenomenon that also occurs in real - life, especially among young people. This conformist culture is getting even stronger thanks to TikTok's special algorithm, which makes sure that user's feed is filled with content they had previously enjoyed, creating this way a "filter bubble" by not exposing them to different types of content compared to their interests or beliefs (Bhandari & Bimo, 2022; Pellathy, 2021).

After having analyzed the main motivations reported for utilizing TikTok, the research hypotheses can be examined. The study's first hypothesis (**H1**) suggesting that the regular exposure to mental health - related content on TikTok correlates with lower perceived symptoms of anxiety, loneliness, and depression, can be confirmed. According to the survey's findings, there is a difference of 0.36 points in a 5-point Likert scale measuring anxiety, between the users who are regularly exposed to mental health - related content and the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content and the users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content. Moreover, between the two groups, there is a 0.23 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring loneliness and a 0.33 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring loneliness and a 0.33 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring loneliness and a 0.33 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring loneliness and a 0.33 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring loneliness and a 0.33 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring loneliness and a 0.33 points difference in a 4-point Likert scale measuring depression. It

should be noted, that as "regularly exposed" were considered all the users that included mental health advice and support as one of the main reasons they use TikTok. People who watch mental health related content on a regular basis were found to be less anxious, less lonely and showing less depression symptoms than people who do not watch mental health content on TikTok regularly, confirming the part of the literature which highlights the relieving effects that TikTok mental health-related content can have on its users (Gallagher, 2022; Droe, 2012). Being able to engage with such content, can offer a form of digital catharsis to users suffering from mental health issues, as they can often see their own experiences being reflected in the content shared by other users who have overcome similar problems in the past, or are currently facing them (Amato, 2022; Burke & Kraut, 2016). This way, they can also feel less ashamed of their mental health issues or disorders and less stigmatized, which in turn can help them feel more comfortable to discuss their own problems and seek professional help (Koehler & Parrell, 2020; MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021; Calear, Batterham, & Christensen, 2014). Moreover, watching other people sharing their own struggles, can make users feel understood as it validates and normalizes their feelings and experiences as well (Depression and Bipolar Support Alliance). The feeling of digital catharsis can become even more intense if they find the courage, inspired by other users, to share their own experience so that they can continue the cycle of support among TikTok users (Gallagher, 2022).

This is a very interesting finding, since social media in general (Beeres, Andersson, Vossen, & Galanti, 2021; Song, et al., 2014; Orben & Przybylski, 2019; Ceballos, Howard, Dailey, Sharma, & Grimes, 2018; Griffiths, Murray, Krug, & McLean, 2018; Yurdagül, Kircaburun, Emirtekin, Wang, & Griffiths, 2019) and TikTok in particular (Fan, 2023; Paul, 2022) have often been heavily criticized about their harmful effects on stress levels, anti-social behavior, self-esteem and happiness. One of TikTok's most important benefits, is the fact that with the anonymity offered to the users, in combination with the endless stream of videos including strangers and not friends and family, it can guarantee to users that they can post any mental health - related video and not be seen by their loved ones (Gallagher, 2022). This can significantly help to reduce symptoms of anxiety, as most users seem to feel less judged by TikTok's environment, while it can also help to reduce loneliness symptoms, as users also feel that they are not alone when coping with mental health - related problems (Amato, 2022). The lower levels of perceived depression symptoms, moreover confirms the academic work which suggests that all types of *peer-to-peer support*, including the online world, can lead to positive results that can even be compared to those offered by professional mental health care providers (Burke, Pyle, Machin, Varese, & Morrison, 2019; Davidson, et al., 2004; Sells, Davidson, Jewell, Falzer, & Rowe, 2006). What could be the subject of a future research study regarding this finding, is to examine

which uses of TikTok are causing negative effects on users' mental health, since mental health – related content was found to be beneficial. Furthermore, a qualitative research study could be conducted to investigate which are the main benefits of TikTok compared to other social media platforms and why do users feel less stressed, less lonely and less depressed when they watch mental health content on this platform.

As far as **H2** is concerned, which suggested that there is a positive correlation between regular exposure to mental health content on TikTok and users' perceived levels of awareness of mental health issues, the hypothesis was rejected. In particular, it was found that there was no statistically significant difference regarding perceived levels of mental health awareness between people who regularly watch mental health content on TikTok and people who do not. This finding is contradictory to a big part of the existing literature, which suggests that among TikTok's advantages as a platform, is the fact that it helps "humanizing" knowledge and familiarizing users with terminology related to mental health issues, contributing this way to the increase of mental health awareness (Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022; Onebright Mental Health, 2022; Tavassoli, 2022). Different cultural and demographic variables could possibly explain these contradictory results. First of all, as far as age is concerned, different age groups may differ in how much they weigh the importance of mental health, a fact which can determine the impact that TikTok can have on them in terms of mental health awareness, even if they watch the same content (Co, Doy, & Healy, 2023). Apart from this, a person's educational background may also be important, since higher educated people may possess superior critical thinking skills and thus be able to better and more easily process the information they gain, while they might also have prior knowledge on mental health issues. Moreover, culture can also play an important role in perceived mental health awareness, since in some cultures stigmatization is still a common phenomenon when it comes to publicly discussing mental health issues, preventing people from actually learning more about mental health. Greek citizens in particular, who participated in the current study, have been found to carry a "medium – high level of authoritarian views" (the belief that mental patients are inferior), and a "moderate level of social restrictiveness" (the belief that mental patients should be isolated), a fact which might have affected their impact by TikTok regarding mental health awareness (Porfyri, et al., 2022). What is more, the effectiveness of TikTok in "humanizing" mental health – related knowledge might also depend on the quality and reliability of the content published, as not all types of content by all users can be equally effective, while it should also be underlined that "humanizing" mental health issues does not necessarily mean that users retain these information.

However, at the same time, the aforementioned finding concerning H2, confirms the literature which underlines the risk that hides behind this "humanization" of knowledge. As Moseley (Moseley,

2023) highlights, TikTok often disseminates information regarding mental health which can be easily misunderstood or misinterpreted, leading instead to the decrease of proper mental health awareness. Moreover, previous studies examining the mental health - related information provided on TikTok, have discovered that misinformation and medically inaccurate information is a common phenomenon on the platform (Martin, 2023; Yeung, Ng, & Abi - Jaoude, 2022), while, most of the times, the people disseminating these pieces of information or advice are not qualified to do so (PlushCare, 2022). This shows that, although TikTok is actually a commonly used platform for easy access to mental health related information and advice, and although this can result in people getting to know more about mental health issues, it does not necessarily lead to the increase of mental health awareness. In other words, more people might get easier access to information regarding mental health problems, symptoms and coping methods, however this does not always mean that their knowledge actually increases, as a big part of the information they receive on the platform is false. The phenomenon of misinformation being disseminated on TikTok raises serious concerns. As mentioned above, false information and advice by unqualified people can result in people proceeding to making self diagnosis, which will, profoundly, not be based on proper professional examination of the patient's situation, but rather on some implications based on their symptoms (Caron, 2022). It is of vital importance for this problem to be addressed, since it can lead many people to avoiding effective professional care, while worsening their mental health. In addition, false information provided on TikTok might support stereotypes or stigmatizing beliefs about mental health issues, increasing the dissemination that people with mental health disorders face in their everyday lives, which deteriorates their mental health even more (An, 2022). Misinformation about mental health can moreover result in the dissemination of myths and misconceptions regarding mental health issues or disorders, further limiting people's empathy or understanding towards those who suffer from mental health problems (Raphael, 2022).

As regards **H3**, which suggested that TikTok users who utilize the platform as a source of mental health support are more likely to recognize the need for professional help with mental health issues when necessary, the hypothesis can be accepted. According to the survey's findings, there is a difference of 0.33 points in a 5-point Likert scale measuring the attitude towards professional mental help, between the users who utilize TikTok for mental health - related content and the users who do not. In particular, users utilizing TikTok as mental health source are more favorable towards asking for professional help when needed, compared to users who do not use TikTok for mental health – related content. This finding confirms the part of the existing literature which highlights that mental health content on TikTok can effectively contribute to people's attitude becoming more favorable towards

professional help with mental health issues when needed (Confectioner, et al., 2021). This could be explained due to the fact that TikTok can serve as a public arena for the debate of health issues (Basch, Meleo-Erwin, Fera, Jaime, & Basch, 2021; Zenone, Ow, & Barbic , 2020), and although, as previously stressed, there are varied degrees of information reliability (Basch, Meleo-Erwin, Fera, Jaime, & Basch, 2021; Song, Zhao, Yao, & Ba, 2022; Kong, Song, Zhao, Zhu, & Sha, 2021), this can help people feel more comfortable with mental health related issues and more willing to ask for help when needed. Moreover, it has been found in the past that TikTok users who suffer from mental health – related problems create a strong feeling of community based on their common experiences, a fact which contributes to their motivation to cope with challenging tasks, such as mental health issues (Droe, 2012). The more positive attitude of TikTok users who watch mental health related content on the platform towards professional mental help, is also associated with the contribution of TikTok in the destigmatization of mental health issues, which will be further discussed below.

What is also worth mentioning regarding this hypothesis, is the fact that the attitude that TikTok users had towards professional mental help before starting using TikTok, does not seem to have a significant effect in their current attitude. In particular, there was no significant difference found between users who had visited a mental health professional before starting using TikTok and the users who had not visited a mental health professional before starting using TikTok, regarding their willingness to ask for professional mental help when needed. This shows that their current positive attitude towards asking for professional help when necessary, is not affected by their previous experiences with professional care providers, but rather by their experience and engagement with mental health – related content on TikTok. Of course, this should be further examined with qualitative research before leading to generalized conclusions.

On the other hand, TikTok users who are not regularly exposed to mental health – related content on TikTok, seem to be more affected by their experience with mental health professionals. In particular, there was a 0.44 points difference in a 5-point Likert scale measuring the attitude towards professional mental help, between the users who had visited a mental health professional in the past and the users who had not. The users who had visited a mental health professional had a more positive attitude towards asking for professional help when needed, compared to the users that had not lived such an experience in the past. This finding comes in contrast to the previous one, regarding users who watch mental health – related content on TikTok, as they were found to be more positive towards asking for professional help regardless their previous experiences with mental health professionals. Based on these findings, a new hypothesis could arise suggesting that if users were regularly exposed to mental health content on TikTok, their attitude towards professional mental help could become more positive, regardless their previous experience with mental health professionals. This could be further tested with an experiment or a qualitative research, in which participants would explain any possible changes in their attitude towards mental health professionals after watching mental health – related content on TikTok.

As far as H4 is concerned, which suggested that TikTok users who utilize the platform for mental health advice and support report a significant decrease in perceived stigmatization of mental health issues, the hypothesis can be accepted. According to the survey's findings, there is a difference of 0.42 points in a 5-point Likert scale measuring stigmatization, between the users who utilize TikTok for mental health advice and support and users who do not. In particular, users who do not utilize TikTok as a source of mental health - related content, reported significantly higher levels of perceived stigmatization of mental health issues compared to the users that are regularly exposed to TikTok's mental health content. This finding confirms previous studies' findings which suggested that all types of peer support seem to substantially help people, and especially the younger ones, to better handle the stigmatization associated with mental illnesses (Ojeda, Munson, Jones, Berliant, & Gilmer, 2021; Vojtila, Ashfaq, Ampofo, Dawson, & Selby, 2021). Furthermore, it also confirms previous studies which examined the effects of social media in general, underlining that they can significantly help in decreasing mental health stigma due to the fact that they offer a place for personal stories to be shared and "unheard voices to be heard", without limitations in terms of time or space (Betton, et al., 2018). In addition to this, TikTok, as already highlighted above, gives users the chance to post any mental health – related video and not be seen by their personal network, while they can also participate in mental health communities outside of their immediate networks (Gallagher, 2022). These are two important advantages of TikTok that help in reducing mental health stigma, as people feel more comfortable in sharing their own experiences without having the fear that their friends or family will treat them differently. The sharing of personal experiences, the easy access, the anonymity, the feeling of acceptance and the sense of control have also been found to be crucial factors that make TikTok, an ideal platform for reducing mental health stigma (MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021).

As already previously mentioned, this decrease in stigmatization of mental health issues among users who regularly watch mental health – related content on TikTok can also possibly explain their more positive attitude towards professional mental help. According to previous studies, the decreased levels of stigmatization have been repeatedly connected with a more positive attitude towards help seeking behaviors (Gulliver, Griffiths, & Christensen , 2010; Calear, Batterham, & Christensen , 2014; Rowe, et al., 2014), as it has been found that stigma can be a key barrier to seeking mental health treatment or help (Clement, et al., 2014; Corrigan, Powell, & Rüsch, 2012).Moreover, previous studies

have found that destigmatization is positively associated with confidence in dealing with mental health symptoms as well as with more positive attitude towards seeking professional help (Confectioner, et al., 2021). The current study also confirmed that the correlation between the perceived levels of stigmatization of mental health issues with the attitude towards asking for professional mental help when needed is statistically significant. Specifically, a negative correlation was found, meaning that the more decreased the perceived levels of stigmatization of mental health issues are, the more increased is the willingness of a person to ask for professional help when needed.

TikTok's contribution to decreasing perceived stigmatization surrounding mental illness, while also promoting positive attitudes towards professional mental care when needed, can have some implications of vital importance for people suffering from mental illnesses and disorders. In particular, TikTok's beneficial impact could be increased by joint efforts including public health groups and organizations. Taking precautions to address the lurking risk of misinformation, such as TikTok informing users about which videos are uploaded by qualified professionals and which are not, the platform could be included as part of the treatment process of mental health patients. Specifically, what TikTok could effectively do, through the sharing of other users' experiences, is boosting the patients' hope that they will overcome their problems, while normalizing their struggle with mental health issues. Mental health professionals could also create accounts on TikTok in order to increase mental health awareness among the platform's users, with the dissemination of correct information, explained in simple words for everyone to be able to understand basic terminology more easily. Of course, it should be stressed that TikTok cannot replace proper mental health treatment by professionals, since mental health is a very sensitive issue and every patient should be treated and approached in a different way. The best exploitation of the platform would be to be used as a supplementary service to mental health care treatment, and as a tool to motivate people, and especially the younger ones, to seek for professional help when needed.

Regarding **H5**, which suggested that TikTok is regarded as the most favored social media platform for acquiring mental health advice and support, the hypothesis can be accepted. According to the participants' answers, TikTok was found to be the most preferred platform of all, with 57 out of 131 (43,51%) participants selecting it as their favorite social media platform when searching for mental health – related content, followed by Instagram with 30 answers (22,90%). This shows that, although mental health – related content is not the main reason why TikTok users utilize the platform, when searching for mental health advice, information and support TikTok is their first option. This finding once again confirms the platform's impressive popularity over the last few years (Feldkamp, 2021; McLachlan, Hootsuite, 2023), while highlighting the need for more measures to be taken by the

platform in order for the information provided to be as accurate as possible and hateful comments to be deleted, since many people nowadays trust TikTok for getting access to mental health advice, information or support. TikTok's special algorithm, which constantly gives the user the content he/she is searching for and would probably enjoy is one of the main benefits that TikTok has as a platform (Xu, Yan, & Zhang, 2019; Bhandari & Bimo, 2022) and one of the main reasons that could possibly explain its popularity among people searching for mental health – related content. In other words, a user who is into mental health – related issues, knows that when using TikTok the content that will appear on his/hers "for you page" will most probably be of his/hers interest without even having to search for it. Of course, further qualitative research regarding the reasons why users prefer TikTok when searching for mental health – related content could significantly help understand this finding.

What is also worth noticing, is that Instagram's popularity for mental health – related content seems to remain high, despite its controversial effects on its users' mental health (Schmuck, Karsay, Matthes, & Stevic, 2019; Moreno, Ton, Selkie, & Evans, 2016; Choukas-Bradley, Roberts, & Maheux, 2021; Ceballos, Howard, Dailey, Sharma, & Grimes, 2018; Griffiths, Murray, Krug, & McLean, 2018; Yurdagül, Kircaburun, Emirtekin, Wang, & Griffiths, 2019; Holland & Tiggemann, 2016). One of the reasons why this happens could be the support that a user can gain through likes, tags and comments (Mackson, Brochu, & Schneider, 2019), which have been found to be associated with increase in users' self-confidence and sense of social support (Valkenburg, Peter, & Schouten, 2006). Another reason why TikTok and Instagram are the most preferred social media platforms for mental health content is because they are video - based platforms (and image-based in the case of Instagram), a fact which makes them more attractive to the majority of users, while also making the information provided on the platform more "digestible" and easily understood (O'Reilly, et al., 2019). Facebook was the third most used platform for mental health - related content with 15 participants reporting it as their favorite platform for mental health - related content, while another video - based platform, YouTube, was fourth with 11 participants selecting it. It should be noted that YouTube was not included among the choices given to the participants, as it is not always considered as a social media platform. However, many users added it when selecting the "other" option. This means that there is a possibility that some users might not selected YouTube, because it was not included among the choices given and might have thought that it is not considered as a social media platform. Thus, YouTube's percentage might have been a little increased if it was included among the possible answers. Twitter's popularity for mental health - related content was low with only 6 participants out of 131 selecting it, while no participant selected Snapchat, probably due to its low popularity in Greece compared to other countries.

Finally, with regard to **H6**, which suggested that 1) TikTok is generally perceived as an unreliable source of advice on mental health issues and that 2) the perceived reliability is increased in the sample that utilizes the platform for mental health content, the hypothesis can be accepted. Before analyzing the findings, it should be noted that two different means regarding TikTok's perceived reliability were measured. The first one measured TikTok's general perceived reliability, while the second one was focused on measuring the perceived reliability of people providing mental health advice and support on TikTok. The first Mean regarding TikTok's general perceived reliability was found to be 3,5 out of 7, which means that the respondents did not consider TikTok neither as completely unreliable source of mental health – related content nor as completely reliable. The second Mean regarding the perceived reliability of people providing mental health advice and support on TikTok was 2,6 out of 5, which again shows that the users neither completely trust the knowledge of people / profiles providing advice and support nor solely reject it as unreliable. The two measurements of reliability were found to be positively correlated, meaning that when there is a decrease in the perceived reliability of the people providing mental health advice and support on TikTok, there is also a decrease in TikTok's general perceived reliability, as well as the other way round.

However, a significant difference in TikTok's perceived reliability, both generally and in the perceived reliability of the people offering mental health advice and support, was found between people who watch mental health content on TikTok on a regular basis and the people who do not. Specifically, there was a 0,85 points difference in a 7-point semantic differential scale between the two groups regarding TikTok's perceived reliability, while there was also a 0,80 points difference in a 5-point Likert scale regarding the perceived reliability of the people providing mental health advice and support on TikTok. This difference in perceived reliability was expected, as if users did not trust the information provided on the platform regarding mental health, then they would not use it regularly for this reason. A possible explanation of why the perceived reliability of TikTok is higher among the people who utilize the platform as a source of mental health – related content is because many users search for people with similar experiences and thus trust their opinion and advice on mental health issues, as they themselves have been through similar situations (Betton, et al., 2018; MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021; Amato, 2022; Gallagher, 2022). It would be useful for a further qualitative research to be conducted among users who utilize TikTok as a source of mental health - related content in order to examine which are the reasons why they trust this platform for this kind of content, and whether they mostly trust the advice and support they can get rather than the mental health - related knowledge. Trusting the advice given by users who have been through similar situations in the past could be proven beneficial for a users' boosted motivation to cope with mental health issues, while,

instead, trusting users' knowledge on mental health issues, which can even lead to self-diagnosis can be harmful (Martin, 2023).

Limitations and future research

Although the current research has added to the existing knowledge regarding the effects of TikTok mental health - related content on the platform's users, it is crucial to address the limitations that might restrict the generalization of the study's conclusions. First of all, the 131 participants are considered as a relatively small sample size, in order for the findings to be generalized. Moreover, no conclusions can be drawn about the total population, due to the fact that a purposive sampling method was used, instead of a probabilistic one, which would allow each member of the survey's population to have an equal probability of being selected in the sample (Setia, 2016; Johnson, Beaton, Murphy, & Pike, 2000; Wiśniowski, Sakshaug, Perez Ruiz, & Blom, 2020). What is more, as far as the representativeness of the sample is concerned, more than 85% of the participants were university / college graduates or had a Master's degree, while all the other education levels were underrepresented. The truthfulness in participants' answers is also possibly affected by what is considered to be a socially acceptable answer (Latkin, Edwards, Davey-Rothwell, & Tobin, 2018), as mental health is a very sensitive and personal topic for each of the participants, especially if they are facing mental health problems. Thus, although the online questionnaire was anonymous, some participants might have felt uncomfortable while filling in the answers and might not have been totally honest about their current mental health situation and their struggles. The conduct of a qualitative research study, to be examined in combination with the current study, could help to address this limitation, as the participants' answers would be cross - checked in multiple ways, as even their expressions when answering could add to the survey's findings. In addition to the aforementioned, another limitation that is evident in the majority of social media research, is the fact that they only offer an ephemeral view of the users' behavioral patterns. This happens due to the fact that both social media platforms and the users' behavior have a tendency to change, sometimes even drastically, over time, reflecting the needs of each audience (Yurieff, 2019). Finally, as far as the internal reliability of the scales used is concerned, the reliability of the one out of two scales measuring the perceived stigmatization of the users, adapted from Yeap & Low (2009), was found to be at a minimally acceptable level (0,69) and thus, in a future study another scale could be used for the perceived stigmatization to be more accurately measured.

In order to draw conclusions about the total population that are more broadly applicable, future research could use more representative samples, including more diverse groups of people. Additionally, a mix of research methods, both qualitative and quantitative, would help in providing deeper explanations about the correlations found in the current study between psychological variables,

such as anxiety, depression and loneliness, with TikTok. A qualitative research on the reasons why people prefer TikTok, among all the other social media platforms, when searching for mental health-related content could also be useful in better understanding the current findings. Moreover, focused research on the types of TikTok content that are more effective in destigmatizing mental health issues, could be proven beneficial in order for better practical implications to be provided for the platform's policies. Finally, further research should be conducted examining why does TikTok not help in increasing its users' perceived mental health awareness, despite the fact that it assists in decreasing perceived stigmatization.

Conclusion and practical implications

The current study explored, through the online survey method, potential associations between the use of TikTok and various aspects of mental health, such as awareness, symptoms, help - seeking behavior, destigmatization, and psychological well - being. Adhering to the quantitative paradigm, the present study partly confirmed and partly contradicted previous relevant studies. First of all, in contrast to a big part of the existing literature, which criticizes social media in general (Beeres, Andersson, Vossen, & Galanti, 2021; Song, et al., 2014; Orben & Przybylski, 2019; Ceballos, Howard, Dailey, Sharma, & Grimes, 2018; Griffiths, Murray, Krug, & McLean, 2018; Yurdagül, Kircaburun, Emirtekin, Wang, & Griffiths, 2019) and TikTok (Fan, 2023; Paul, 2022) in particular, for their harmful effects on their users' mental health, the findings of the current study showed that using this platform for mental health - related content can be significantly beneficial for people suffering from anxiety, loneliness or even depression, as it can substantially decrease these symptoms. Moreover, the findings showed that nowadays TikTok seems to have replaced previously preferred platforms for mental health content, such as for example YouTube (Oliphant, 2013; Zhao & Zhang, 2017; Giustini, Ali, Fraser, & Kamel Boulos, 2018), creating a need for past studies to be re - examined after TikTok's dominance in the online word, especially among people of the Gen Z. What was also found to be contradictory to past studies, was the fact that TikTok does not seem to significantly increase its users' perceived mental health awareness. This comes as a surprise, since studies in the past have suggested that, through "humanizing" knowledge regarding mental health issues and bringing light to mental health problems previously unaware to many people, can increase TikTok users' mental health awareness (Basch, Donelle, Fera, & Jaime, 2022; Onebright Mental Health, 2022; Tavassoli, 2022). One possible explanation for this could be TikTok's misleading and false information, which are found to be often disseminated through the platform (Yeung, Ng, & Abi - Jaoude, 2022; Martin, 2023), as well as differentiations in demographics and cultural variables. Further research on this topic could be useful

to examine whether TikTok's unreliability in disseminating mental health information can have negative effects in increasing the users' mental health awareness.

However, the present study also confirmed parts of the existing literature. As expected (Tavassoli, 2022; Onebright Mental Health, 2022), TikTok was found to be significantly beneficial in reducing the users' perceived stigma regarding mental health issues. Furthermore, the current study also confirmed previous research suggesting that TikTok mental health - related content is a valuable source for increasing its users' help - seeking behavior when dealing with mental health issues (Confectioner, et al., 2021). What should also be highlighted, is the fact that the reduction in perceived stigmatization was also found to be associated with the increase in help – seeking behaviors, confirming previous studies that had found similar associations (Calear, Batterham, & Christensen, 2014). As far as TikTok's perceived reliability as a mental health source is concerned, it was found that the majority of the platform's users do not consider it as a completely reliable source, while they also believe that people providing mental health advice are also not trustworthy and qualified to do so. This finding confirms that, despite using the platform for mental health – related content, TikTok users are able to realize that it is not a completely trustworthy tool for gaining mental health advice and information and they probably prefer utilizing it as a source of mental health support by people who have been through similar situations, a fact which has also been found in other studies in the past (McCashin & Murphy, 2022; Herrman, 2019; Amato, 2022; MacKinnon, Kia, & Lacombe- Duncan, 2021). Finally, it was also confirmed that many users utilize TikTok for mental health – related reasons (Drillinger, 2022; Kyparissiadis & Diamantaki, 2022; Basch, Meleo-Erwin, Fera, Jaime, & Basch, 2021; Zenone, Ow, & Barbic, 2020; Rosenblatt, 2021; McCashin & Murphy, 2022), as it was found that this is the fourth most common need that users cover when using this platform.

Following the discussion of the current study's results, it is also important to examine the practical implications that the aforementioned findings can have. To begin with, taking into consideration the association of TikTok mental health – related content with the lower levels of perceived symptoms of anxiety, loneliness and depression, the reduction in perceived stigmatization, as well as the more positive attitude towards help-seeking, it would be useful for mental health organizations and professionals to incorporate TikTok as part of the treatment process for people suffering from mental health issues. In particular, they could create TikTok accounts offering useful tips for handling mental health symptoms, hosting people that have overcome mental health disorders in the past to share their experience and offer support, while at the same time promoting places where anyone can seek professional help when needed. Moreover, in order to address the problem of false information or fake news being disseminated through the platform, TikTok should establish more strict policies and

guidelines for all videos related to mental - health issues, giving users the chance to report any kind of content that might be triggering or raise concerns. In addition to that, TikTok should inform users whether a video is uploaded by an accredited mental – health professional or by a user without any qualification to offer mental health advice. This way, the platform might be able to reduce its perceived unreliability among the users, while at the same time more effectively increase users' mental health awareness. Furthermore, the dissemination of fake news and false information could also be addressed if schools and educational institutions included into their curricula subjects aiming to digital literacy and mental health education, in order for students to be able to evaluate the information they gain from social media, since fake news are not only being disseminated through TikTok but on all other social media platforms as well.

References

Abrams, Z. (2021, December 2). How can we minimize Instagram's harmful effects? *Monitor* on *Psychology*.

- Ahmedani, B. K. (2011, December 29). Mental Health Stigma: Society, Individuals, and the Profession. *J Soc Work Values Ethics*.
- Akhther, N., & Sopory, P. (2022). Seeking and Sharing Mental Health Information on Social Media During COVID-19: Role of Depression and Anxiety, Peer Support, and Health Benefits. *J Technol Behav Sci*, pp. 211-226.
- Albdour, M., Hong, J., Lewin, L., & Yarandi, H. (2019, August). The Impact of Cyberbullying on Physical and Psychological Health of Arab American Adolescents. J Immigr Minor Health.
- Alhabash, S., & Ma, M. (2017, February 1). A Tale of Four Platforms: Motivations and Uses of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat Among College Students? Social Media + Society.
- AlMuammar, S. A., Noorsaeed, A. S., Alafif, R. A., Kamal, Y. F., & Daghistani, G. M. (2021, September). The Use of Internet and Social Media for Health Information and Its Consequences Among the Population in Saudi Arabia. *Cureus*.
- Amato, M. (2022, January 5). *TikTok is helping Gen Z with mental health. Here's what it can and can't do.* Los Angeles times: https://www.latimes.com/lifestyle/story/2022-01-05/those-struggling-with-mental-health-have-found-validation-on-tiktok-heres-how
- American Psychological Association. (2018). Stress in America: Generation Z.
- Amin, K., Rae , M., Ramirez, G., & Cox, C. (2020, December 14). How might internet connectivity affect health care access? Peterson-KFF Health System Tracker.
- An, C. (2022, December 29). Stigmatization of Depression Caused by the Spread of Misinformation in Social Media—Taking China's Douyin(TikTok) as an Example. Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research.
- Anderson, K. E. (2020). Getting acquainted with social networks and apps: It is time to talk about TikTok. *Library Hi Tech News*, pp. 7-12.

- Andrade, C. (2020, November). The Limitations of Online Surveys. *Indian J Psychol Med.*
- Andreassen, C. S., Pallesen, S., & Griffiths, M. D. (2017). The relationship between addictive use of social media, narcissism, and self-esteem: Findings from a large national survey. *Addictive Behaviors*, pp. 287-293.
- Arafat, M. Y., Zaman, S., & Hawlader, M. (2021, March 7). Telemedicine improves mental health in COVID-19 pandemic. J Glob Health.
- Arendt, F. (2019, January). Suicide on Instagram Content Analysis of a German Suicide-Related Hashtag. *Crisis*, pp. 36-41.
- Aschbrenner, K. A., Naslund, J. A., Grinley, T., Bienvenida, J. M., Bartels, S. J., & Brunette, M. (2018, September). A Survey of Online and Mobile Technology Use at Peer Support Agencies. *Psychiatr Q.*, pp. 539 - 548.
- Aydın, B., & Arslan, E. (2015, October). The Role of Social Media on Leisure
 Preferences: A Research on the Participants of Outdoor Recreation Activities.
 Quantitative Social Research.
- Bahkali, S., Alfurih, S., Aldremly, M., Alzayyat, M., Alsurimi, K., & Househ, M. (2016). The Prevalence of Internet and Social Media Based Medication Information Seeking Behavior in Saudi Arabia. *Stud Health Technol Inform.*
- Bahorsky, R. (2022, November December). CALLING DR. TIKTOK: EXPERTS WEIGH IN ON AN ALARMING SOCIAL-MEDIA TREND. A & S Magazine.
- Balcombe, L., & De Leo, D. (2023, April 20). The Impact of YouTube on Loneliness and Mental Health. *Informatics*.
- Baquero, E. P. (2018). A Descriptive Analysis of the Most Viewed YouTube VideosRelated to Depression. Columbia University Libraries (Doctoral dissertation).
- Barta, K., & Andalibi, N. (2021, October 18). Constructing Authenticity on TikTok: Social Norms and Social Support on the "Fun" Platform. *Proceedings of the* ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, pp. 1-29.
- Basch, C. H., Donelle, L., Fera, J., & Jaime, C. (2022, May 19). Deconstructing TikTok Videos on Mental Health: Cross-sectional, Descriptive Content Analysis. *JMIR Form Res.*

- Basch, C. H., Donelle, L., Fera, J., & Jaime, C. (2022, May 19). Deconstructing TikTok Videos on Mental Health: Cross-sectional, Descriptive Content Analysis. *JMIR Form Res*.
- Basch, C. H., Meleo-Erwin, Z., Fera, J., Jaime, C., & Basch, C. E. (2021). A global pandemic in the time of viral memes: COVID-19 vaccine misinformation and disinformation on TikTok. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*.
- Basch, C. H., Yalamanchili, B., & Fera, J. (2021, September 20). #Climate Change on TikTok: A Content Analysis of Videos. *Journal of Community Health*.
- Beeres, D. T., Andersson, F., Vossen, H., & Galanti, M. (2021, May). Social Media and Mental Health Among Early Adolescents in Sweden: A Longitudinal Study With 2-Year Follow-Up (KUPOL Study). J Adolesc Health.
- Bérail, P. d., Guillon, M., & Bungener, C. (2019, October). The relations between YouTube addiction, social anxiety and parasocial relationships with YouTubers: A moderated-mediation model based on a cognitive-behavioral framework. *Computers in Human Behavior*, pp. 190-204.
- Berry, N., Lobban, F., Belousov, M., Emsley, R., Nenadic, G., & Bucci, S. (2017, April 5). #WhyWeTweetMH: Understanding Why People Use Twitter to Discuss Mental Health Problems. *J Med Internet Res*.
- Best, P., Manktelow, R., & Taylor, B. (2014). Online communication, social media and adolescent wellbeing: A systematic narrative review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, pp. 27-36.
- Bethlehem, J. (2010, August). Selection Bias in Web Surveys. *International Statistical Review*, pp. 161-188.
- Betton, V., Borschmann, R., Docherty, M., Coleman, S., Brown, M., & Henderson, C. (2018, January 2). The role of social media in reducing stigma and discrimination. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*.
- Bhandari, A., & Bimo, S. (2022, March 22). Why's Everyone on TikTok Now? The Algorithmized Self and the Future of Self-Making on Social Media. *Social Media* + *Society*.
- Birnbaum, M. L., Rizvi, A. F., Confino, J., Correll, C. U., & Kane, J. M. (2017, August). Role of social media and the Internet in pathways to care for adolescents and young adults with psychotic disorders and non-psychotic mood disorders. *Early Interv. Psychiatry*, pp. 290 - 295.

- Bogolyubova, O., Upravitelev, P., Churilova, A., & Ledovaya, Y. (2018, November
 8). Expression of Psychological Distress on Instagram Using Hashtags in
 Russian and English: A Comparative Analysis. SAGE Open.
- Bossen, C. B., & Kottasz, R. (2020). Uses and gratifications sought by pre-adolescent and adolescent TikTok consumers. *Young Consumers*.
- Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2017, December 14). Facebook Addiction Disorder (FAD) among German students-A longitudinal approach. *PLoS One*.
- Brewer, M. B. (1991, October). The Social Self: On Being the Same and Different at the Same Time. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*.
- Brunette, M. F., Achtyes, E., Pratt, S., Stilwell , K., Opperman, M. J., Guarino, S., & Kay-Lambkin, F. (2019, August). Use of Smartphones, Computers and Social Media Among People with SMI: Opportunity for Intervention. *Community Ment Health J*, pp. 973-978.
- Bucci, S., Schwannauer, M., & Berry, N. (2019, June). The digital revolution and its impact on mental health care. *Psychol Psychother*.
- Burke, E., Pyle, M., Machin, K., Varese, F., & Morrison, A. P. (2019). The effects of peer support on empowerment, self-efficacy, and internalized stigma: A narrative synthesis and meta-analysis. *Stigma and Health*, pp. 337-356.
- Burke, M., & Kraut, R. E. (2016, July 26). The Relationship Between Facebook Use and Well-Being Depends on Communication Type and Tie Strength. *Journal* of Computer-Mediated Communication.
- Butt, M. (2021, April 7). Facebook and Mental Health A Systematic Review of Literature on Adolescents and Young Adults. Social Science Research Network.
- Cabassa, L. J., Camacho, D., Vélez-Grau, C. M., & Stefancic, A. (2017, January). Peer-based health interventions for people with serious mental illness: A systematic literature review. *J Psychiatr Res*, pp. 80-89.
- Calder, K., D' Aeth, L., Turner, S., Begg, A., Veer, E., Scott, J., & Fox, C. (2020, February). Evaluation of the All Right? Campaign's Facebook intervention post-disaster in Canterbury, New Zealand. *Health Promot Int*, pp. 111-122.

- Calear, A. L., Batterham, P. J., & Christensen, H. (2014, November). Predictors of help-seeking for suicidal ideation in the community: risks and opportunities for public suicide prevention campaigns. *Psychiatry Res*.
- Calo, W. A., Murray, A., Francis, E., Bermudez, M., & Kraschnewski, J. (2020, June 25). Reaching the Hispanic Community About COVID-19 Through Existing Chronic Disease Prevention Programs. *Prev Chronic Dis.*
- Cara, N. H., Winstone, L., Sloan, L., Davis, O. S., & Haworth, C. M. (2022, September 7). The mental health and well-being profile of young adults using social media. *npj mental health research*.
- Carey, J. (1989). A cultural approach to communication. In J. Carey, *Communication* as a culture: Essays on Media and Society.
- Caron, C. (2022, October 29). *Teens Turn to TikTok in Search of a Mental Health Diagnosis*. New York Times: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/10/29/well/mind/tiktok-mental-illnessdiagnosis.html
- Carville, O. (2023, April 20). TikTok's Algorithm Keeps Pushing Suicide to Vulnerable Kids. Bloomberg: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2023-04-20/tiktok-effects-onmental-health-in-focus-after-teen-suicide
- Ceballos, N. A., Howard, K., Dailey, S., Sharma, S., & Grimes, T. (2018, August 29).
 Collegiate Binge Drinking and Social Media Use Among Hispanics and Non-Hispanics. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, pp. 868-875.
- Charles, A., Thompson, D., Nixdorf, R., Ryan, G., Shamba, D., Kalha, J., . . .
 Mpango, R. (2020, June). Typology of modifications to peer support work for adults with mental health problems: systematic review. *Br J Psychiatry*, pp. 301-307.
- Chen, J., & Wang, Y. (2021, May). Social Media Use for Health Purposes: Systematic Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*.
- Chinman, M., George, P., Dougherty, R. H., Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S., Swift, A., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014, April 1). Peer support services for individuals with serious mental illnesses: assessing the evidence. *Psychiatr Serv*.
- Choukas-Bradley, S., Roberts, S. R., & Maheux, A. J. (2021). The Perfect Storm: A Developmental–Sociocultural Framework for the Role of Social Media in

Adolescent Girls' Body Image Concerns and Mental Health. Στο Adolescent Girls' Body Image Concerns and Mental Health

- Clarke, A. M., Kuosmanen, T., & Barry, M. M. (2015, January). A systematic review of online youth mental health promotion and prevention interventions. *J Youth Adolesc*.
- Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans- Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., . . . Thornicroft, G. (2014, February 21). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychological Medicine*.
- Co, E., Doy, A., & Healy, C. (2023, April 28). Gen Z mental health: The impact of tech and social media. McKinsey Health Institute: https://www.mckinsey.com/mhi/our-insights/gen-z-mental-health-the-impactof-tech-and-social-media
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). Perceived Stress Scale. APA PsycTests.
- Cole, D. A., Nick, E. A., Zelkowitz, R. L., Roeder, K. M., & Spinelli, T. (2016, December 8). Online Social Support for Young People: Does It Recapitulate In-person Social Support; Can It Help? *Comput Human Behav*.

Columbia University. (2022, March 16). *How Sleep Deprivation Impacts Mental Health.* www.columbiapsychiatry.org: https://www.columbiapsychiatry.org/news/how-sleep-deprivation-affectsyour-mentalhealth#:~:text=And%20there%20is%20now%20robust,and%20to%20decreas e%20positive%20emotions.

- Confectioner, K., Currie, A., Gabana, N., van Gerven, N., Kerkhoffs, G., & Gouttebarge, V. (2021). Help-seeking behaviours related to mental health symptoms in professional football. *BMJ Open Sport and Exercise Medicine*.
- Corrigan, P. W., Druss, B. G., & Perlick, D. A. (2014, September 3). The Impact of Mental Illness Stigma on Seeking and Participating in Mental Health Care. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*.
- Corrigan, P. W., Powell, C. J., & Rüsch, N. (2012). How does stigma affect work in people with serious mental illnesses? *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, pp. 381-384.
- Couper, M. P. (2000, February 1). Review: Web Surveys: A Review of Issues and Approaches. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, pp. 464-494.
- Cox, J. H., Nahar, A., Termine, C., Agosti, M., Balottin, U., Seri, S., & Cavanna, A.
 E. (2019, June 11). Social stigma and self-perception in adolescents with tourette syndrome. *Adolesc Health Med Ther*, pp. 75-82.
- Craine, K. (2023, May 3). Baylor Researchers Explore Effect of Instagram, TikTok on Psychological Well-Being. Baylor University Media and Public Relations: https://news.web.baylor.edu/news/story/2023/baylor-researchers-exploreeffect-instagram-tiktok-psychological-well-being
- Data Reportal. (2023, May 11). datareportal.com: https://datareportal.com/essentialfacebook-

stats#:~:text=Number%20of%20Facebook%20users%20in,)%3A%202.989% 20billion%20(April%202023)&text=Number%20of%20people%20who%20u se,)%3A%202.037%20billion%20(April%202023)&text=Share%20of%20Fac ebook's%20monthly%20ac

- Davidson, L., Chinman, M., Kloos, B., Weingarten, R., Stayner, D., & Tebes, J. (1999). Peer support among individuals with severe mental illness: A review of the evidence. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, pp. 165-187.
- Davidson, L., Shahar, G., Stayner, D. A., Chinman, M. J., Rakfeldt, J., & Tebes, J. (2004). Supported Socialization for People With Psychiatric Disabilities:
 Lessons From a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Community Psychology*, pp. 453-457.
- de Leeuw, E. D., Hox, J. J., & Dillman, D. A. (2008). *International handbook of survey methodology*. Taylor & Francis.
- Depression and Bipolar Support Alliance. (n.d.). *The Alliance Insider TikTok and Youth Mental Health*. DBSA: https://www.dbsalliance.org/education/newsletters/tiktok-and-youth-mentalhealth/
- Devendorf, A., Bender, A., & Rottenberg, J. (2020, June). Depression presentations, stigma, and mental health literacy: A critical review and YouTube content analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev*.

- Diamantaki, K., & Ziavras, S. (2022). Experiencing mental health content on YouTube: A mixed-methods approach. *IAMCR 2022, International Association for Media and Communication Research.* Beijing.
- Dibble, J., Hartmann, T., & Rosaen, S. F. (2015, March). Parasocial Interaction and Parasocial Relationship: Conceptual Clarification and a Critical Assessment of Measures. *Human Communication Research*.
- Dienlin, T., Masur, P. K., & Trepte, S. (2017, February 16). Reinforcement or Displacement? The Reciprocity of FtF, IM, and SNS Communication and Their Effects on Loneliness and Life Satisfaction. *Journal of Computer -Mediated Communication*.
- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. (2014). *Internet, phone, mail, and mixed mode surveys: The tailored design method, 4th ed.* John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Doan, S., Ritchart , A., Perry, N., Chaparro, J. D., & Conway, M. (2017, June). How
 Do You #relax When You're #stressed? A Content Analysis and
 Infodemiology Study of Stress-Related Tweets. *JMIR Public Health Surveill*.
- Drillinger, M. (2022, June 28). *What to Know About Using TikTok as a Mental Health Resource*. Health Line: https://www.healthline.com/health-news/what-to-know-about-using-tiktok-as-a-mental-health-resource
- Droe, K. L. (2012, September 10). Effect of Verbal Praise on Achievement Goal Orientation, Motivation, and Performance Attribution. *Journal of Music Teacher Education*.
- Drouin, M., Kaiser, D. H., & Miller, D. A. (2012, July). Phantom vibrations among undergraduates: Prevalence and associated psychological characteristics. *Computers in Human Behaviour*.
- Dunsch, F., Evans, D. K., Macis, M., & Wang, Q. (2018, April 12). Bias in patient satisfaction surveys: a threat to measuring healthcare quality. *BMJ Glob Health*.
- Egan, K. G., Koff, R. N., & Moreno, M. A. (2013, January). College students' responses to mental health status updates on Facebook. *Issues Ment Health Nurs*.
- Eghtesadi, M., & Florea, A. (2020, June 9). Facebook, Instagram, Reddit and TikTok: a proposal for health authorities to integrate popular social media platforms in

contingency planning amid a global pandemic outbreak. *Canadian Journal of Public Health = Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique*.

- Ellis, K. (2012). New media as a powerful ally in the representation of mental illness:
 YouTube, resistance and change. In L. C. Rubin, *Mental Illness and Popular Media: essays on the Representation of Disorders* (pp. 184-201). McFarland & Co; Jefferson, N.C.
- Falgoust, G., Winterlind, E., Moon, P., Parker, A., Zinzow, H., & Chalil Madathil, K. (2022, December). Applying the uses and gratifications theory to identify motivational factors behind young adult's participation in viral social media challenges on TikTok. *Human Factors in Healthcare*.
- Fan, R. (2023). The Impact of TikTok Short Videos on Anxiety Level of Juveniles in Shenzhen China. Shenzhen College of International Education, pp. 535-542.
- Fan, X., Luo, J., & Wang, X. (2023, February 13). Understanding TikTok Usage: Communication Strategy of ByteDance Based on the Background of New Media. Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research.
- Fardouly, J., Pinkus, R. T., & Vartanian, L. R. (2017). The impact of appearance comparisons made through social media,. *Body Image*, pp. 31-39.
- Faulkner, A., & Basset, T. (2012, February). A helping hand: Taking peer support into the 21st century. *Mental Health and Social Inclusion*.
- Feldkamp, J. (2021). The Rise of TikTok: The Evolution of a Social Media Platform During COVID-19. In C. Hovestadt, J. Recker, J. Richter, & K. Werder, *Digital Responses to Covid-19* (pp. 73-85). Springer, Cham.
- Fischer, E. H., & Farina, A. (1995). Attitudes toward seeking professional psychological help: A shortened form and considerations for research. *Journal* of College Student Development,, pp. 368-373.
- Forest, A. L., & Wood, J. V. (2012, February 7). When Social Networking Is Not Working: Individuals With Low Self-Esteem Recognize but Do Not Reap the Benefits of Self-Disclosure on Facebook. *Psychological Science*.
- Fowler, F. J. (2009). Survey Research Methods. SAGE .
- Frechtling, J. (2002). An overview of quantitative and qualitative data collection methods. In J. Frechtling, *The 2002 userfriendly handbook for project evaluation* (pp. 43-62).

- Freeman, R. D., Fast, D. K., Burd, L., Kerbeshian, J., Robertson, M. M., & Sandor, P. (2000, July 1). An international perspective on Tourette syndrome: selected findings from 3500 individuals in 22 countries. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*.
- Frison, E., & Eggermont, S. (2015, January 21). Exploring the Relationships Between Different Types of Facebook Use, Perceived Online Social Support, and Adolescents' Depressed Mood. Social Science Computer Review.
- Frohlich, D. O., & Zmyslinski-Seelig, A. (2012). The presence of social support messages on YouTube videos about inflammatory bowel disease and ostomies. *Health Commun*.
- Gabbiadini, A., Baldissarri, C., Valtorta, R., Durante, F., & Mari, S. (2021).
 Loneliness, Escapism, and Identification With Media Characters: An Exploration of the Psychological Factors Underlying Binge-Watching Tendency. *Front Psychol.*
- Gabbidon, J., Clement, S., van Nieuwenhuizen, A., Kassam, A., Brohan, E., Norman, I., & Thornicroft, G. (2013, March). Mental Illness: Clinicians' Attitudes (MICA) scale-psychometric properties of a version for healthcare students and professionals. *Psychiatry Res.*
- Gallagher, L. (2022, January 14). Welcome to AnxietyTok: An empirical review of peer support for individuals living with mental illness on social networking site TikTok. *Veritas: Villanova Research Journal*.
- Gaus, Q., Jolliff, A., & Moreno, M. A. (2021). A content analysis of YouTube depression personal account videos and their comments. *Computers in Human Behavior Reports*.
- Geyser, W. (2023, July 18). *Influencer Marketing Hub.* influencermarketinghub.com: https://influencermarketinghub.com/tiktok-stats/
- Giordano, A. L., Lundeen, L. A., Wester, K. L., Lee, J., Vickers, S., Schmit, M. K., & Kim, I. (2021, September 29). Nonsuicidal Self-Injury on Instagram: Examining Hashtag Trends. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, pp. 1-16.
- Giustini, D., Ali, S., Fraser, M., & Kamel Boulos, M. N. (2018, September 21).Effective uses of social media in public health and medicine: a systematic review of systematic reviews. *Online J Public Health Inform*.

- Godfrey, C. M., Harrison, M. B., Lysaght, R., Lamb, M., Graham, I. D., & Oakley, P. (2010). The experience of self-care: a systematic review. *JBI Libr Syst Rev*, pp. 1351-1460.
- Godwin, H. T., Khan, M., & Yellowlees, P. (2017, December). The Educational Potential of YouTube. *Acad Psychiatry*.
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*. New York: Simon and Schuster Inc.
- Gopalan, G., Lee, S., Harris, R., Acri, M. C., & Munson , M. R. (2017, February). Utilization of peers in services for youth with emotional and behavioral challenges: A scoping review. *J Adolesc*.
- Gordon, D. (2021, October 6). *Forbes*. forbes.com: https://www.forbes.com/sites/debgordon/2021/10/06/1-in-10-americans-turnto-social-media-for-health-information-new-survey-shows/?sh=699642e73d93
- Griffiths, K. M., Calear, A. L., & Banfield, M. (2009, September 30). Systematic review on Internet Support Groups (ISGs) and depression (1): Do ISGs reduce depressive symptoms? J Med Internet Res.
- Griffiths, S., Murray, S. B., Krug, I., & McLean, S. A. (2018, March 1). The Contribution of Social Media to Body Dissatisfaction, Eating Disorder Symptoms, and Anabolic Steroid Use Among Sexual Minority Men. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*.
- Gulliver, A., Griffiths, K. M., & Christensen , H. (2010, December 30). Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*.
- Hannemann, N., Götz,, N.-A., Schmidt, L., Hübner, U., & Babitsch, B. (2021, August 25). Patient connectivity with healthcare professionals and health insurer using digital health technologies during the COVID-19 pandemic: a German cross-sectional study. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*.
- Hanprathet, N., Manwong, M., Khumsri, J., Yingyeun, R., & Phanasathit, M. (2015, April). Facebook Addiction and Its Relationship with Mental Health among Thai High School Students. *J Med Assoc Thai*.
- Herrick, S. S., Hallward, L., & Duncan, L. R. (2021, April). "This is just how I cope": An inductive thematic analysis of eating disorder recovery content created and shared on TikTok using #EDrecovery. *Int J Eat Disord*.

- Herrman, J. (2019, March 10). *How TikTok Is Rewriting the World*. New York Times: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/10/style/what-is-tik-tok.html
- Holland, G., & Tiggemann, M. (2016, June). A systematic review of the impact of the use of social networking sites on body image and disordered eating outcomes. *Body Image*.
- Horton, D., & Wohl, R. R. (1956). Mass communication and para-social interaction. Psychiatry: Journal for the Study of Interpersonal Processes, pp. 215-229.
- Houghton, S., Lawrence, D., Hunter, S. C., Rosenberg, M., Zadow, C., Wood, L., & Shilton, T. (2018, July 25). Reciprocal Relationships between Trajectories of Depressive Symptoms and Screen Media Use during Adolescence. J Youth Adolesc.
- Houston, T. K., Cooper, L. A., & Ford, D. E. (2002, December). Internet Support Groups for Depression: A 1-Year Prospective Cohort Study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*.
- Hungerbuehler, I., Valiengo, L., Loch, A. A., Rössler, W., & Gattaz, W. F. (2016, August). Home-Based Psychiatric Outpatient Care Through Videoconferencing for Depression: A Randomized Controlled Follow-Up Trial. *JMIR Ment Health*.
- Hunter, T. (2022, October 3). How to vet mental health advice on TikTok and Instagram. The Washington Post : https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2022/10/03/tiktok-instagrammental-health/
- Hussain, U., Jabarkhail, S., Cunningham, G. B., & Madsen, J. A. (2021, January -July). The dual nature of escapism in video gaming: A meta-analytic approach. *Computers in Human Behavior Reports*.
- Johansson, F., Rozental, A., Edlund, K., Côté, P., Sundberg, T., Onell, K., . . . Skillgate, E. (2023, January). Associations Between Procrastination and Subsequent Health Outcomes Among University Students in Sweden. JAMA Network.
- Johnson, L. C., Beaton, R., Murphy, S., & Pike, K. (2000, October). Sampling Bias and Other Methodological Threats to the Validity of Health Survey Research. *International Journal of Stress Management*.

- Jones, T., Baxter, M., & Khanduja, V. (2013, January). A quick guide to survey research. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl.*
- Kalichman, S. (2009). Teaching Tip Sheet: Stigma and Prejudice. *American Psychological Association*.
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010, January February). Users of the World, Unite! The Challenges and Opportunities of Social Media. *Business Horizons*, pp. 59-68.
- Kaplan, K., Salzer, M. S., Solomon, P., Brusilovskiy, E., & Cousounis, P. (2011, January). Internet peer support for individuals with psychiatric disabilities: A randomized controlled trial. *Soc Sci Med.*, pp. 54-62.
- Karahanna, E., Xu, S., Xu, Y., & Zhang, A. (2018, September). The Needs– Affordances–Features Perspective for the Use of Social Media. *MIS Quarterly*, pp. 737-756.
- Karayigit, C., Groter, A., & Thompson, M. (2021, May). Addictive Use of Social Media and Motivations for Social Media Use Among Emerging Adult University Students. *Bağımlılık Dergisi – Journal of Dependence*.
- Katz, E., Blumler, J. G., & Gurevitch, M. (1973, January 1). Uses and Gratifications Research. *Public Opinion Quarterly*.
- Katz, E., Blumler, J., & Gurevitch, M. (1974). Utilization of Mass Communication by the Individual. In E. Katz, & J. G. Blumler, *The Uses of Mass Communications: Current Perspectives on Gratifications Research* (pp. 19-31). Beverly Hills: SAGE Publications.
- Keep, M., & Amon, K. L. (2017, January). Follow Me: Exploring the Effect of Personality and Stranger Connections on Instagram Use. *International Journal* of Virtual Communities and Social Networking, pp. 1-16.
- Kemp, S. (2022, July 21). Data Reportal. datareportal.com: https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2022-july-global-statshot
- Kempf-Leonard, K. (2005). Encyclopedia of Social Measurement. Elsevier.
- Kırcaburun, K., & Griffiths, M. D. (2018, June 4). Problematic Instagram Use: The Role of Perceived Feeling of Presence and Escapism. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*.

- Kircaburun, K., Alhabash, S., Tosuntaş, Ş., & Griffiths, M. D. (2020, June). Uses and gratifications of problematic social media use among university students: A simultaneous examination of the big five of personality, social media platforms and social media use motives. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*.
- Klobas, J. E., McGill, T. J., Moghavvemi, S., & Paramanathan, T. (2019, April 2).Problematic and extensive YouTube use: first hand reports. *Online Information Review*.
- Klodnick, V. V., Sabella, K., Brenner, C. J., & Krzos, I. M. (2014, December).
 Perspectives of Young Emerging Adults With Serious Mental Health
 Conditions on Vocational Peer Mentors. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*.
- Koehler, S. N., & Parrell, B. (2020, June). The impact of social media on mental health: A mixed-methods research of service providers' awareness. *Electronic Theses, Projects, and Dissertations.*
- Kolliakou, A., Bakolis, I., Chandran, D., Derczynski, L., Werbeloff, N., Osborn, D.
 P., . . . Stewart, R. (2020, February 6). Mental health-related conversations on social media and crisis episodes: a time-series regression analysis. *Sci Rep.*
- Kong, W., Song, S., Zhao, Y., Zhu, Q., & Sha, L. (2021, September). TikTok as a Health Information Source: Assessment of the Quality of Information in Diabetes-Related Videos. *J Med Internet Res.*
- Krosnick, J. A., & Presser, S. (2009). Question and Questionnaire Design. In J. D.
 Wright, & P. V. Marsden, *Handbook of Survey Research* (σσ. 263-314).
 Elsevier.
- Kuehn, B. M. (2011, April 27). Patients go online seeking support, practical advice on health conditions. *JAMA*.
- Kyparissiadis, G., & Diamantaki, K. (2022, December). "We should be talking about this more": an empirical examination of stress-related content on TikTok. *Journal of Education, Innovation, and Communication (JEICOM)*.
- Lam, N. H., Tsiang, J.-H., & Woo, B. (2017, December). Exploring the Role of YouTube in Disseminating Psychoeducation. Acad. Psychiatry, pp. 819 - 822.

- Latha, K., Meena, K. S., Pravitha, M. R., Dasgupta, M., & Chaturvedi, S. K. (2020, May 28). Effective use of social media platforms for promotion of mental health awareness. *J Educ Health Promot*.
- Latkin, C. A., Edwards, C., Davey-Rothwell, M. A., & Tobin, K. E. (2018, October
 1). The relationship between social desirability bias and self-reports of health, substance use, and social network factors among urban substance users in Baltimore, Maryland. *Addict Behav*.
- Lavrakas, P. J. (2008). Encyclopedia of survey research methods. Sage Publications.
- Lawrence, A. (2020, December). A Uses and Gratifications Exploratory Study of TikTok: What Does This Mean for Brands? *Thesis*.
- Lee, J., & Abidin, C. (2023, February 26). Introduction to the Special Issue of "TikTok and Social Movements". *Social Media* + *Society*.
- Lee, K.-T., Noh, M.-J., & Koo, D.-M. (2013, June). Lonely people are no longer lonely on social networking sites: the mediating role of self-disclosure and social support. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.*
- Lee, Y.-H., & Chen, M. (2022, May 12). Seeking a Sense of Control or Escapism? The Role of Video Games in Coping with Unemployment. *Games and culture*.
- Licoppe, C. (2004, February). 'Connected' Presence: The Emergence of a New Repertoire for Managing Social Relationships in a Changing Communication Technoscape. *Environment and Planning D Society and Space*, pp. 135-156.
- Literat, I., & Kligler-Vilenchik, N. (2023, February 26). TikTok as a Key Platform for Youth Political Expression: Reflecting on the Opportunities and Stakes Involved. Social Media + Society.
- Lloyd-Evans, B., Mayo-Wilson, E., Harrison, B., Istead, H., Brown, E., Pilling, S., . . . Kendall, T. (2014, February). A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of peer support for people with severe mental illness. *BMC Psychiatry*.
- Lometti, G. E., Reeves, B., & Bybee, C. R. (1977, July). Investigating the Assumptions of Uses and Gratifications Research. *Communication Research*.
- Longobardi, C., Settanni, M., Fabris, M., & Marengo, D. (2020, June). Follow or be followed: Exploring the links between Instagram popularity, social media

addiction, cyber victimization, and subjective happiness in Italian adolescents. *Children and Youth Services Review*.

- MacKinnon, K. R., Kia, H., & Lacombe- Duncan, A. (2021, December 9). Examining TikTok's Potential for Community-Engaged Digital Knowledge Mobilization With Equity-Seeking Groups. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*.
- Mackson, S. B., Brochu, P. M., & Schneider, B. A. (2019). Instagram: Friend or foe? The application's association with psychological well-being. *New media & society*, pp. 1-23.
- Madianou, M. (2016, January 4). Ambient co-presence: transnational family practices in polymedia environments. *Global Networks*.
- Mahmood-ul-Hassan, S., Ullah Khan, S., Sheikh, A., Ayub, T., Mustansar, A., &
 Farhan Tabassum, M. (2022). Impact Of Youtube Usage On Sleep Quality
 And Cognitive Function In Efl Learners. *Journal of Positive School Psychology*, pp. 189-199.
- Maltby, J., Day, L., McCutcheon, L. E., Gillett, R., Houran, J., & Ashe, D. D. (2004, November). Personality and coping: a context for examining celebrity worship and mental health. *Br J Psychol*.
- Mandzufas, J., Ayalde, J., Ta, D., Munro, E., Paciente, R., Pranoto, E., . . . Lombardi, K. (2023, March 21). The Investigation of Health-Related Topics on TikTok: A Descriptive Study Protocol. *Digital*, pp. 97-108.
- Manfreda, K. L., Bosnjak, M., Berzelak, J., Haas, I., & Vehovar, V. (2008, January
 1). Web Surveys versus other Survey Modes: A Meta-Analysis Comparing Response Rates. *International Journal of Market Research*.
- Marikyan, D., & Papagiannidis, S. (2023). Technology Acceptance Model: A review. In S. Papagiannidis, *TheoryHub Book*.
- Martin, J. (2023, April). The big issue: Mental health and the TikTok effect. *British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy*.
- Martini, T., Czepielewski, L. S., Baldez, D. P., Gliddon, E., Kieling, C., Berk, L., ...
 Kauer-Sant'Anna, M. (2018, August 23). Mental health information online:
 What we have learned from social media metrics in BuzzFeed's Mental Health
 Week. *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*.

- Maulik, P. K., Kallakuri, S., Devarapalli, S., Vadlamani, V., Jha, V., & Patel, A. (2017, June). Increasing use of mental health services in remote areas using mobile technology: a pre-post evaluation of the SMART Mental Health project in rural India. J Glob Health.
- Mayer, A. (2021, October 29). Reducing respondents' perceptions of bias in survey research. *Methodological Innovations*.
- McCashin, D., & Murphy, C. M. (2022, June 10). Using TikTok for public and youth mental health – A systematic review and content analysis. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*.
- McClellan, C., Ali, M. M., Mutter, R., Kroutil, L., & Landwehr, J. (2017, May). Using social media to monitor mental health discussions - evidence from Twitter. J Am Med Inform Assoc, pp. 496 - 502.
- McConnell, E. A., Clifford, A., Korpak, A. A., Phillips II, G., & Birkett, M. (2017, November). Identity, victimization, and support: Facebook experiences and mental health among LGBTQ youth. *Computers in Human Behavior*, pp. 237-244.
- McKenna, K. Y., & Bargh, J. A. (1998, September 1). Coming Out in the Age of the Internet: Identity "Demarginalization" Through Virtual Group Participation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*.
- McLachlan, S. (2023, April 13). 50+ Important TikTok Stats Marketers Need to Know in 2023. Hootsuite: https://blog.hootsuite.com/tiktok-stats/
- Mead, S., & Macneil, C. (2004, January). Peer Support: What Makes It Unique? International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation.
- Mead, S., Hilton, D., & Curtis, L. (2001). Peer support: A theoretical perspective. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, pp. 134-141.
- Melling, B., & Houguet-Pincham, T. (2011). Online peer support for individuals with depression: a summary of current research and future considerations. *Psychiatr Rehabil J.*
- Mental Health Foundation UK. (n.d.). *Mental Health Foundation*. mentalhealth.org.uk: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/explore-mentalhealth/a-z-topics/peer-support

- Messina, N. (2021, September 15). It's there for you, but is it #fyp?: A methodological reflection of researching content vs community on TikTok. *AoIR Selected Papers of Internet Research*.
- Milton, A., Ajmani, L., DeVito, M., & Chancellor, S. (2023). "I See Me Here": Mental Health Content, Community, and Algorithmic Curation on TikTok. *Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, (pp. 1-17).
- Miodus, S., & Jimenez, A. (2021, November 3). TikTok Therapy: An Exploratory Study on Popular TikTok Mental Health Content. *TMS Proceedings*.
- Mojtabai, R., Olfson, M., & Han, B. (2016, November 14). National Trends in the Prevalence and Treatment of Depression in Adolescents and Young Adults. *Pediatrics*.
- Montag, C., Yang, H., & Elhai, J. D. (2021, March 16). On the Psychology of TikTok Use: A First Glimpse From Empirical Findings. *Frontiers in Public Health*.
- Moreno, M. A., Ton, A., Selkie, E., & Evans, Y. (2016, January). Secret Society 123: Understanding the Language of Self-Harm on Instagram. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, pp. 78-84.
- Moseley, L. R. (2023, March 28). A Mental Health Diagnosis Takes Much More Than a Scroll Through TikTok. Boston Medical Center: https://healthcity.bmc.org/population-health/mental-health-diagnosis-takesmuch-more-scroll-through-tiktok
- Muhammed, S., & Mathew, S. (2022, February 15). The disaster of misinformation: a review of research in social media. Springer Nature - PMC COVID-19 Collection.
- Muliadi, B. (2020, July 7). *Forbes*. forbes.com: https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2020/07/07/what-the-rise-oftiktok-says-about-generation-z/?sh=79dbab5e6549
- Mullis, C., Nguyen, L., & Pappas, C. (2021). #selfcare on Instagram: ProactiveMental Health Has Its Moment. *PANDION: The Osprey Journal of Research* & Ideas.
- Mutschler, C., Bellamy, C., Davidson, L., Lichtenstein, S., & Kidd, S. (2022, May). Implementation of peer support in mental health services: A systematic review of the literature. *Psychol Serv*, pp. 360-374.

- Naslund, J. A., Aschbrenner, K. A., Marsch, L. A., & Bartels, S. J. (2016, April 25). The future of mental health care: peer-to-peer support and social media. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.*
- Naslund, J. A., Aschbrenner, K. A., McHugo, G. J., Unützer, J., Marsch, L. A., & Bartels, S. J. (2019, June). Exploring opportunities to support mental health care using social media: A survey of social media users with mental illness. *Early Interv Psychiatry*.
- Naslund, J. A., Bondre, A., Torous, J., & Aschbrenner, K. A. (2020, April 20). Social Media and Mental Health: Benefits, Risks, and Opportunities for Research and Practice. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, pp. 245-257.
- Naslund, J. A., Grande, S. W., Aschbrenner, K. A., & Elwyn, G. (2014, October 15). Naturally Occurring Peer Support through Social Media: The Experiences of Individuals with Severe Mental Illness Using YouTube. *PloS One*.
- Nemes, S. (2022). The use of TikTok for relationship maintenance: An exploratory study. *Eastern Michigan University Master Thesis*.
- O'Reilly, M., Dogra, N., Hughes, J., Reilly, P., George, R., & Whiteman, N. (2019, October). Potential of social media in promoting mental health in adolescents. *Health Promot Int.*
- Ohanian, R. (1990, April 13). Construction and Validation of a Scale to Measure Celebrity Endorsers' Perceived Expertise, Trustworthiness, and Attractiveness. *Journal of advertising*.
- Ojeda, V. D., Munson, M. R., Jones, N., Berliant, E., & Gilmer, T. P. (2021, March). The Availability of Peer Support and Disparities in Outpatient Mental Health Service Use Among Minority Youth with Serious Mental Illness. *Adm Policy Ment Health*, pp. 290-298.
- Oliphant, T. (2013). User Engagement with Mental Health Videos on YouTube. Journal of the Canadian Health Libraries Association / Journal De l'Association Des bibliothèques De La Santé Du Canada, pp. 153-158.
- Onebright Mental Health. (2022). *TikTok for Mental Health Info? Raising Mental Health Awareness*. Onebright.com: https://onebright.com/advice-hub/news/how-tiktok-became-a-popular-resource-for-mental-health-awareness/

- Ong, A. D., & Weiss, D. J. (2000, August). The impact of anonymity on responses to sensitive questions. *Computer Security and Reliability*.
- Ong, B., & Toh, D. (2023, March 22). Digital Dominance and Social Media Platforms: Are Competition Authorities Up to the Task? IIC - International Review of Intellectual Property and Competition Law.
- Orben, A., & Przybylski, A. K. (2019, January 14). The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. *Nature Human Behaviour*,pp. 173 - 182.
- Orchard, L. J., Fullwood, C., Galbraith, N., & Morris, N. (2014, April). Individual Differences as Predictors of Social Networking. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*.
- Osman, W., Mohamed, F., Elhassan, M., & Shoufan , A. (2022, May 19). Is YouTube a reliable source of health-related information? A systematic review. BMC Medical Education .
- Pagoto, S., Waring, M. E., & Xu, R. (2019, December 21). A Call for a Public Health Agenda for Social Media Research. *J Med Internet Res.*
- Panchal, U., de Pablo, G., Franco, M., Moreno, C., Parellada, M., Arango, C., & Fusar-Poli, P. (2021, August 18). The impact of COVID-19 lockdown on child and adolescent mental health: systematic review. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, pp. 1-27.
- Pantic, I., Damjanovic, A., Todorovic, J., Topalovic, D., Bojovic- Jovic, D., Ristic, S., & Pantic, S. (2012, March). Association between online social networking and depression in high school students: behavioral physiology viewpoint. *Psychiatr Danub*.
- Papacharissi, Z. (2011). Networked Self: Identity Performance and Sociability on Social Network Sites. In Z. Papacharissi, A Networked Self: Identity, Community, and Culture on Social Network Sites (pp. 304-318). Routledge.
- Papacharissi, Z. (2013). A networked self identity performance and sociability on social network sites. In F. L. Lee, L. Leung, J. Qiu, & D. Chu, *Frontiers in New Media Research*. New York: Routledge.
- Park, D. Y., & Goering, E. M. (2016). The Health-Related Uses and Gratifications of YouTube: Motive, Cognitive Involvement, Online Activity, and Sense of Empowerment. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, pp. 52-70.

- Paul, K. (2022, October 30). What TikTok does to your mental health: 'It's embarrassing we know so little'. The Guardian: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/oct/30/tiktok-mental-healthsocial-media
- Pellathy, A. (2021, June 1). *Social media limits individuality*. The Standard: https://standard.asl.org/18381/opinions/social-media-limits-individuality/
- Penney, D. (2020, October 11). Defining "Peer Support": Implications for Policy, Practice, and Research. *Massachusetts Association for Mental Health*.
- Perry, B. L., & Pescosolido, B. A. (2015, January). Social network activation: the role of health discussion partners in recovery from mental illness. *Soc Sci Med*.
- Petrillo, S. (2021, December 13). What Makes TikTok so Addictive?: An Analysis of the Mechanisms Underlying the World's Latest Social Media Craze. *Brown* Undergraduate Journal of Public Health.
- Pettitt, B. (2003, January). Effective Joint Working Between Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Schools. *Adolescent Mental Health*.
- PlushCare. (2022, November 18). *How Accurate is Mental Health Advice on TikTok?* plushcare.com: https://plushcare.com/blog/tiktok-mental-health/
- Pontes, H. M., Taylor, M., & Stavropoulos, V. (2018, February). Beyond "Facebook Addiction": The Role of Cognitive-Related Factors and Psychiatric Distress in Social Networking Site Addiction. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*.
- Porfyri, G.-N., Athanasiadou, M., Siokas, V., Giannoglou, S., Skarpari, S., Kikis, M., ... Deretzi, G. (2022, November 30). Mental health-related stigma discrimination and prejudices among Greek healthcare professionals. *Front Psychiatry*.
- Prescott, J., Hanley, T., & Ujhelyi , K. (2017, August 2). Peer Communication in Online Mental Health Forums for Young People: Directional and Nondirectional Support. JMIR Ment Health.
- Pressly, V. (2021). College students' use of social media and its effects on well- being during COVID-19. *The University of Southern Mississippi*.
- Pruccoli, J., De Rosa, M., Chiasso, L., Perrone, A., & Parmeggiani, A. (2022, July 30). The use of TikTok among children and adolescents with Eating

Disorders: experience in a third-level public Italian center during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *Italian Journal of Pediatrics*.

- Przybylski, A. K., Murayama, K., DeHaan, C. R., & Gladwell, V. (2013).
 Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. *Computers in Human Behavior*, pp. 1841-1848.
- Puschner, B., Repper, J., Mahlke, C., Nixdorf, R., Basangwa, D., Nakku, J., . . . Slade, M. (2019). Using Peer Support in Developing Empowering Mental Health Services (UPSIDES): Background, Rationale and Methodology. *Ann Glob Health*.
- Racine, N., McArthur, B., Cooke, J. E., Eirich , R., Zhu, J., & Madigan, S. (2021, November 1). Global Prevalence of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms in Children and Adolescents During COVID-19: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.*, pp. 1142-1150.
- Raphael, R. (2022, June 29). TikTok Is Flooded With Health Myths. These Creators Are Pushing Back: The New York Times. New York Times: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/06/29/well/live/tiktok-misinformation.html
- Reinecke, L., & Trepte, S. (2014, January). Authenticity and well-being on social network sites: A two-wave longitudinal study on the effects of online authenticity and the positivity bias in SNS communication. *Computers in Human Behavior*, pp. 95 - 102.
- Rideout, V., & Fox, S. (2018). Digital Health Practices, Social Media Use, and Mental Well-Being Among Teens and Young Adults in the U.S. *Providence St. Joseph Health Digital Commons*.
- Riessman, F. (1990). Restructuring help: A human services paradigm for the 1990s. American Journal of Community Psychology, pp. 221-230.
- Roberts, J. A., & David, M. E. (2023, January 30). Instagram and TikTok Flow States and Their Association with Psychological Well-Being. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.*
- Rosen, A. O., Holmes, A. L., Balluerka, N., Dolores Hidalgo, M., Gorostiaga, A.,
 Gomez Benito, J., & Huedo Medina, T. B. (2022, March 26). Is Social
 Media a New Type of Social Support? Social Media Use in Spain during the
 COVID-19 Pandemic: A Mixed Methods Study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*.

- Rosenblatt, K. (2021, September 24). *NBC News*. nbcnews.com: https://www.nbcnews.com/pop-culture/pop-culture-news/tiktok-has-newmental-health-resources-its-users-some-experts-n1279944
- Rowe, S. L., French, R. S., Henderson, C., Ougrin, D., Slade, M., & Moran, P. (2014, December). Help-seeking behaviour and adolescent self-harm: a systematic review. Aust N Z J Psychiatry.
- Royal Society for Public Health (RSPH). (2017, May). *Status of mind: Social media and young people's mental health and wellbeing*. https://www.rsph.org.uk/: https://www.rsph.org.uk/static/uploaded/d125b27c-0b62-41c5a2c0155a8887cd01.pdf
- Rudd, B. N., & Beidas, R. S. (2020, June 2). Digital Mental Health: The Answer to the Global Mental Health Crisis? *JMIR Mental Health*.
- Schmuck, D., Karsay, K., Matthes, J., & Stevic, A. (2019, June). "Looking Up and Feeling Down" The Influence of Mobile Social Networking Site Use on Upward Social Comparison, Self-Esteem, and Well-Being of Adult Smartphone Users. *Telematics and Informatics*.
- Schofield, D. (2020, September 14). *Refinery29*. refinery29.com: https://www.refinery29.com/en-gb/2020/09/10013794/psych-ward-videostiktok
- Sells, D., Davidson, L., Jewell, C., Falzer, P., & Rowe, M. (2006, August). The treatment relationship in peer-based and regular case management for clients with severe mental illness. *Psychiatr Serv*, pp. 1179-1184.
- Seo, M., Kim, J., & Yang, H. (2016, May 18). Frequent Interaction and Fast Feedback Predict Perceived Social Support: Using Crawled and Self-Reported Data of Facebook Users. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*.
- Setia, M. S. (2016, September October). Methodology Series Module 5: Sampling Strategies. *Indian J Dermatol.*
- Shafer, J., May, R. W., & Fincham, F. D. (2021, November 4). Exploring Temporal Evaluations of Interpersonal Social Media Surveillance During the COVID-19 Lockdown. *Emerging Adulthood*.
- Shah, S., & Birur, P. (2014, March). Awareness of Oral Cancer in Rural Bangalore Population: A Questionnaire Based Study. *International journal of scientific study*.

- Sharabati, A.-A. A., Al Haddad, S., Al Khasawneh, M., Nababteh, N., Mohammad, M., & Ghoush, Q. (2022, July 8). The Impact of TikTok User Satisfaction on Continuous Intention to Use the Application. J. Open Innov. Technol. Mark. Complex.
- Sharma, H. (2022, Jan-Mar). How short or long should be a questionnaire for any research? Researchers dilemma in deciding the appropriate questionnaire length. *Saudi J Anaesth*, pp. 65-68.
- Shaw, C. (2014). *Peer Support in Secure Services: Final Report*. Together for Mental Wellbeing.
- Sherlock, M., & Wagstaff, D. (2019). Exploring the relationship between frequency of Instagram use, exposure to idealized images, and psychological well-being in women. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, pp. 482-490.
- Shu, S., & Woo, B. (2020, April 13). The Roles of YouTube and WhatsApp in Dementia Education for the Older Chinese American Population: Longitudinal Analysis. *JMIR Aging*.
- Sirois, F. M. (2023, March). Procrastination and Stress: A Conceptual Review of Why Context Matters. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*.
- Song, H., Zmyslinski-Seelig, A., Kim, J., Drent, A., Victor, A., Omori, K., & Allen, M. (2014, July). Does Facebook make you lonely?: A meta analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*.
- Song, S., Zhao, Y., Yao, X., & Ba, Z. (2022, May). Serious information in hedonic social applications: affordances, self-determination and health information adoption in TikTok. *Journal of Documentation*.
- Statista. (2022). *Statista*. statista.com: https://www.statista.com/statistics/715449/social-media-usage-reasonsworldwide/
- Stockdale, L. A., & Coyne, S. M. (2020, February). Bored and online: Reasons for using social media, problematic social networking site use, and behavioral outcomes across the transition from adolescence to emerging adulthood. J Adolesc.
- Suler, J. R. (2000). Psychotherapy in Cyberspace: A 5-dimensional model of online and computer-mediated psychotherapy. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, pp. 151-159.

- Szlyk, H., Deng, J., Xu, C., Krauss, M. J., & Cavazos Rehg, P. A. (2020, May). Leveraging social media to explore the barriers to treatment among individuals with depressive symptoms. *Depress Anxiety*.
- Tanis, M. (2008, Oct-Nov). Health-related on-line forums: what's the big attraction? *J Health Commun*.
- Tanner, K., & Johanson, G. (2018). Research Methods: Information, Systems, and Contexts. Elsevier.
- Tavassoli, S. (2022, March 23). A Perspective on TikTok's Mental Health Epidemic. New York University: https://confluence.gallatin.nyu.edu/context/independent-project/a-perspectiveon-tiktoks-mental-health-epidemic
- Tian, Y. (2010, April 25). Organ donation on Web 2.0: content and audience analysis of organ donation videos on YouTube. *Health Commun*.
- *TikTok*. (n.d.). tiktok.com: https://www.tiktok.com/tag/psychwardstories?lang=en&is_copy_url=1&is_fro m_webapp=v1
- TikTok. (n.d.). *TikTok*. tiktok.com: https://www.tiktok.com/safety/en/well-being-guide/
- Torales, J., O'Higgins, M., Castaldelli-Maia , J., & Ventriglio, A. (2020, June). The outbreak of COVID-19 coronavirus and its impact on global mental health. *Int J Soc Psychiatry*.
- Ulvi, O., Karamehic Muratovic, A., Baghbanzadeh, M., Bashir, A., Smith, J., & Haque, U. (2022, January 11). Social Media Use and Mental Health: A Global Analysis. *Epidemiologia*, pp. 11-25.
- Valkenburg, P. M., Peter, J., & Schouten, A. (2006, November). Friend Networking Sites and Their Relationship to Adolescents' Well-Being and Social Self-Esteem. Cyberpsychology & behavior: the impact of the Internet, multimedia and virtual reality on behavior and society.
- van den Berg, Y. H., Burk, W. J., Roelofs, K., & Cillessen, A. H. (2021, October 4).
 Emerging Adults' Mental Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A
 Prospective Longitudinal Study on the Importance of Social Support. *Emerging Adulthood*, pp. 618-630.

- Vaterlaus, J. M., & Winter, M. (2021, August 15). TikTok: an exploratory study of young adults' uses and gratifications. *The Social Science Journal*.
- Vogel, E. A., Rose, J. P., Roberts, L. R., & Eckles, K. (2014). Social comparison, social media, and self-esteem. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, pp. 206-222.
- Vojtila, L., Ashfaq, I., Ampofo, A., Dawson, D., & Selby, P. (2021, January 8).
 Engaging a person with lived experience of mental illness in a collaborative care model feasibility study. *Research Involvement and Engagement*.
- Wagner, K. B. (2022, December 26). TikTok and its mediatic split: the promotion of ecumenical user-generated content alongside Sinocentric media globalization. *Media, Culture & Society.*
- Wang, Y. (2022, January 17). A Review of Reasons for TikTok's Global Surge. Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research.
- Watkins, D. C., Allen, J., Goodwill, J. R., & Noel, B. (2017, December). Strengths and weaknesses of the Young Black Men, Masculinities, and Mental Health (YBMen) Facebook project. Am J Orthopsychiatry.
- Weiner, D. B. (1979, September). The apprenticeship of Philippe Pinel: a new document, "observations of Citizen Pussin on the insane". *Am J Psychiatry*.
- Whiting, A., & Williams, D. (2013, June). Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach. *Qualitative Market Research An International Journal*.
- WHO. (2022, June 8). *World Health Organization*. who.int: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-disorders
- Wiederhold, B. K. (2021, December 7). Social Media and Mental Health: Weighing the Costs and Benefits. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*.
- Wiedmann, K.-P., & Von Mettenheim, W. (2020, July). Attractiveness, trustworthiness and expertise – social influencers' winning formula? *Journal* of Product & Brand Management.
- Williams, K. (2020). TikTok was installed more than 738 million times in 2019, 44% of its all-time downloads. *Sensor Tower*.

Wimmer, R. D., & Dominick, J. R. (2009). Mass Media Research: An Introduction.

- Wimmer, R. D., & Dominick, J. R. (2013). Mass Media Research: An introduction. Cengage learning.
- Wiśniowski, A., Sakshaug, J. W., Perez Ruiz, D., & Blom, A. G. (2020, January 27). Integrating Probability and Nonprobability Samples for Survey Inference. *Journal of Survey Statistics and Methodology*.
- Wolters, C. A., & Corkin, D. M. (n.d.). Procrastination and Learning. *Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning*, pp. 2697 2700.
- Woodruff, S. I., Conway, T. L., Edwards, C. C., Elliott, S. P., & Crittenden, J. (2007, September). Evaluation of an Internet virtual world chat room for adolescent smoking cessation. *Addict Behav*.
- Wu, M.-J., Zhao, K., & Fils- Aime, F. (2022, August). Response rates of online surveys in published research: A meta-analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior Reports*.
- Xu, L., Yan, X., & Zhang, Z. (2019, June). Research on the Causes of the "Tik Tok" App Becoming Popular and the Existing Problems. *Journal of Advanced Management Science*.
- Xu, S., Qiu, D., Hahne, J., Zhao, M., & Hu, M. (2018, September 21). Psychometric properties of the short-form UCLA Loneliness Scale (ULS-8) among Chinese adolescents. *Medicine (Baltimore)*.
- Yang, Y. (2020, June). Understanding Young Adults' TikTok Usage. UCSD Department of Communication.
- Yaqi, Z., Lee, J.-Y., & Liu, S. (2020, October 13). Research on the Uses and Gratifications of Tiktok (Douyin short video). *International Journal of Contents*.
- Yeap, R., & Low, W. (2009, December). Mental health knowledge, attitude and helpseeking tendency: a Malaysian context. *Singapore Med J*.
- Yeung, A., Ng, E., & Abi Jaoude, E. (2022, December). TikTok and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Cross-Sectional Study of Social Media Content Quality. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*.
- Yu, S., Wu, A., & Pesigan, I. (2016). Cognitive and psychosocial health risk factors of social networking addiction. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, pp. 550 - 564.

- Yurdagül, C., Kircaburun, K., Emirtekin, E., Wang, P., & Griffiths, M. D. (2019, April 11). Psychopathological Consequences Related to Problematic Instagram Use Among Adolescents: The Mediating Role of Body Image Dissatisfaction and Moderating Role of Gender. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, pp. 1385- 1397.
- Yurieff, K. (2019, December 19). Cnn business. cnn.com: https://edition.cnn.com/2019/12/19/tech/social-media-end-ofdecade/index.html
- Zenone, M., Ow, N., & Barbic , S. (2020, November 6). TikTok and public health: a proposed research agenda. *BMJ Glob Health*.
- Zhang, R. (2017). The stress-buffering effect of self-disclosure on Facebook: An examination of stressful life events, social support, and mental health among college students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, pp. 527- 537.
- Zhao, Y., & Zhang, J. (2017, December). Consumer health information seeking in social media: a literature review. *Health Info Libr J*.
- Zhao, Z. (2021, February 3). Analysis on the "Douyin (Tiktok) Mania" Phenomenon Based on Recommendation Algorithms. 2020 International Conference on New Energy Technology and Industrial Development.
- Zheluk, A. A., Anderson, J., & Dineen-Griffin, S. (2022, December). Adolescent Anxiety and TikTok: An Exploratory Study. *Cureus*.
- Zhou, X., Snoswell, C. L., Harding, L. E., Bambling , M., Edirippulige, S., Bai , X., & Smith, A. C. (2020, April). The Role of Telehealth in Reducing the Mental Health Burden from COVID-19. *Telemed J E Health*.
- Zhu, C., Xu, X., Zhang, W., Chen, J., & Evans, R. (2019, December 27). How Health Communication via Tik Tok Makes a Difference: A Content Analysis of Tik Tok Accounts Run by Chinese Provincial Health Committees. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*.
- Ziv, I., & Kiasi, M. (2016). Facebook's contribution to well-being among adolescent and young adults as a function of mental resilience. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, pp. 527- 541.

APPENDIX A



The American College of Greece

Informed Consent Form for Human Research Subjects

You are invited to volunteer for a research study conducted by Angeliki – Eirini Kourkoulou, a student pursuing an MA in Digital Communication and Social Media, under the supervision of Dr. Katerina Diamantaki. The study aims to explore how TikTok users are exposed to content related to mental health issues and how it affects their perceptions and experiences.

As a participant, you will be asked to complete an online questionnaire. The questionnaire will include structured questions about mental health-related content on the platform. A set of structured questions about mental health awareness, perceived symptoms, platform usage, and perceived effects will be included in the questionnaire. Some of the questions will focus on assessing symptoms of anxiety, depression and loneliness. The questions will be designed to obtain meaningful information that corresponds to the study's goals and hypotheses.

Your input is highly valuable. However, if you feel uncomfortable at any point while answering the questionnaire, for any reason, you have the right to stop and decide not to submit it without facing any consequences. Upon withdrawal, all information provided by the participants e.g. demographic data, will be permanently deleted from all records.

While there are no direct benefits for participating in the study, you will have the opportunity to reflect on your experiences and report your thoughts regarding mental health- related content on TikTok.

Additionally, your participation will contribute to scientific research, potentially providing valuable information in the field of Digital Communication. Your identity as a participant will remain confidential, as no personal identifiers will be requested in the questionnaire and anonymity is fully preserved in the current study.

This consent form confirms your participation in this study. It will be securely stored and be accessible only to the investigator without being linked to the information you provide through the questionnaire. The collected data will be destroyed by the end of August 2026. If you are interested in accessing these results, you may contact the principal investigator.

If you have questions about the research you may contact the student investigator, Angeliki – Eirini Kourkoulou (a.kourkoulou@acg.edu) or the faculty advisor Dr.

Katerina Diamantaki (kdiamantaki@acg.edu).

Your participation in this research is voluntary and you are free to refuse or discontinue your involvement without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are entitled.

We look forward to receiving your completed questionnaire and analyzing the data. If you have any further questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to reach out to us.

Once again, we sincerely thank you for your involvement and support. We look forward to analyzing the collected data and sharing the results with you in the future.

By clicking "Yes, I want to participate", you represent that you have read and understood the above information, that you are over 18 years of age and agree to participate, that you understand that you can withdraw your consent at any time and stop participating without consequence and that you do not have any legal claims.

If you would like to keep a copy of this study description for your records, please save or print a copy of this page before proceeding with the study.

Click "Yes, I want to participate" if you want to continue.

Estimated Time: six (6) minutes

APPENDIX B

Debriefing

The present study is a part of a thesis project for the Digital Communication and Social Media Master's program of the American College of Greece. As you were informed at the beginning, the purpose of the thesis is to investigate the impact of exposure to mental health content on TikTok on users' perceptions and experiences related to mental health. To examine this topic, it was necessary to gather valid self-report data from TikTok users.

You were asked to contribute to this research by providing answers to a set of eighteen (18) questions that express your subjective perceptions and beliefs regarding your use of the platform for consuming mental health - related content. Your participation in this study has proven invaluable. It has allowed the researcher to accumulate critical insights into how TikTok, as a social media platform, shapes individuals' understanding of mental health issues, their experiences of symptoms related to anxiety, loneliness, and depression, their behaviors when seeking help, and their attitudes towards mental health overall. This will further contribute to the study of culture and socially mediated communication.

No personally identifiable information was collected during your completion of the questionnaire. Data collected was treated statistically and there was no interest in any individual responses. Results will be reported only in the aggregate. Data will be destroyed at the end of three years.

Finally, in case you experience psychological discomfort during or after completing the questionnaire of this study, you can contact the Ψ -Diktyo - <u>http://psy-diktyo.gr/</u>.

If you have any questions regarding your participation or wish to receive a summary of the results, please feel free to contact me at the following address:

<u>a.kourkoulou@acg.edu</u> . You can also contact my supervisor at: <u>kdiamantaki@acg.edu</u>

Thank you again for taking part in this study!

APPENDIX C

Questionnaire

- Informed consent (If no, then exit the survey)
- Q1) Do you use TikTok?
 - Yes
 - No (If no, then exit the survey)
- Q2) Which are the main reasons you use TikTok? Choose all that apply. (adapted from Orchard et al. 2014, Individual Differences as Predictors of Social Networking)
 - Procrastination (boredom, passing time etc)
 - Freedom of expression
 - Conformity (because others do it, I have to use it)
 - Information exchange
 - New connections
 - Ritual (part of my daily routine, it is a habit)
 - Social maintenance
 - Escapism (forget responsibilities, escape reality)
 - Recreation (it's exciting, it's fun etc)
 - Experimentation (lie, pretend to be someone else)
 - Mental health content/advice/support

• (Follow up if they answer mental health content)

Q3) How often do you visit TikTok to watch mental health content? (Item adapted by Liu (2015)

- Several times a day
- About once a day
- A few times a week
- Every few weeks
- Less often
- Don't know
- Q4) Which social media platform do you prefer if you are looking for mental health content/ advice/support?
 - Facebook
 - Instagram
 - TikTok
 - Twitter
 - Snapchat
 - Other

• (If they had selected mental health content as main reason for using TikTok)

Q5)Before starting using TikTok for mental health content, had you ever discussed psychological problems with a mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, social worker?) Adapted by Mackenzie et al. (2004).

- Yes
- No

• (If they didn't select mental health advice/support as motivation): Q5) Have you ever discussed psychological problems with a mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, social worker?)

- Yes
- No
- Q6) State your level of agreement or disagreement with each of the following statements: (adapted from ATSPPH-SF scale by Fischer & Turner (1970) 0-3 (0= disagree, 1=partly disagree, 2=partly agree, 3= agree)
 - If I thought I was experiencing a mental breakdown, my immediate response would be to seek professional help.
 - The notion of discussing my problems with a therapist seems to me an ineffective way of resolving emotional issues.
 - The idea of discussing my problems with a therapist seems to me as a poor way of resolving of emotional conflicts
 - If I were experiencing a serious emotional crisis at this point in my life, I would be confident that I could find relief in counseling.
 - There is something admirable in the attitude of a person who is willing to cope with his or her conflicts and fears without resorting to professional help.
 - If I found myself distressed or anxious for an extended period, I would consider seeking psychological help.
 - There's a possibility I may seek psychological counseling in the future.
 - A person with an emotional problem is not likely to solve it alone; he or she is likely to solve it with professional help.
 - Considering the time and expenses involved in therapy, I'm uncertain about its value for someone like me.
 - One should attempt to resolve their own issues; psychological counseling should be seen as a final option.
 - Just like many aspects of life, personal and emotional difficulties often resolve naturally over time.

• Q7) Click on the dot that best describes your level of awareness regarding the following:

Not at all aware – Extremely Aware (1-10) Likert Scale (adapted from S.P. Shah, B.N. Praveen, 2014, Awareness of oral cancer in rural Bangalore population: a questionnaire based study) <u>adjusted to 1-5</u>

- How aware are you of mental health as a topic?
- How aware are you of the causes of mental health problems?
- How aware are you of the signs and symptoms of mental health problems?
- How aware are you of the ways to prevent mental health problems?
- How aware are you of where to seek consultation and treatment for mental health problems?

<u>Anxiety</u>

0-4 (never, almost never, sometimes, fairly often, very often) Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) originally developed by Cohen et al. (1983)

- Q8) Click on the dot that best describes what is true for you.
 - In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?
 - In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life?
 - In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and stressed?
 - In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?
 - In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?
 - In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?
 - In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life?
 - In the last month, how often have you been angered because of things that happened that were outside of your control?
 - In the last month, how often have you felt difficulties were piling up so high that you could not overcome them?

<u>Loneliness</u>

1-4 (never – always) ULS-8 Loneliness Scale, Xu, Qiu, Hahne, Zhao, Hu, 2018, Psychometric properties of the short-form UCLA Loneliness Scale (ULS-8) among Chinese adolescents

- Q9) Click on the dot that best describes your current situation.
 - I lack companionship
 - There is no one I can turn to

- I am an outgoing person
- I feel left out
- I feel isolation from others
- I can find companionship when I want it
- People are around me but not with me

<u>Depression</u>

Adapted from The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale by A. S. Zigmond and R. P. Snaith 1983

• Q10) State your level of agreement or disagreement with each of the following statements:

0 – 3 (3 positive)

I feel cheerful:

- Not at all
- Not often
- Sometimes
- Most of the time

0-3 (3 positive)

I feel as if I am slowed down:

- Nearly all the time
- Very often
- Sometimes
- Not at all

0-3 (3 positive)

I have lost interest in my appearance:

- Definitely
- I don't take so much care as I should
- I may not take quite as much care
- I take just as much care as ever

0-3 (3, negative)

I look forward with enjoyment to things:

- As much as ever I did
- Rather less than I used to
- Definitely less than I used to
- Hardly at all

0-3 (3, negative)

I can enjoy a good book or radio or TV programme:

- Often
- Sometimes
- Not often

Very seldom

<u>Reliability</u>

1-7 semantic differential adjusted by Ohanian (1990) and Wiedmann and Mettenheim (2020)

- Q11) For each row of adjectives below, click on the dot that best describes how you would characterize mental health advice provided on TikTok.
 - Dependable-Undependable
 - Reliable-Unreliable
 - Trustworthy-Untrustworthy
- Q12) Select your level of agreement or disagreement with each of the following statements regarding people/ profiles offering mental health advice on TikTok.

1-5 (1=strongly disagree, 5= strongly agree)

- I trust their opinion
- I trust their knowledge on mental health topics

Stigmatization

Strongly agree – strongly disagree (1-5) MICA Scale* (as seen in Gabbidon J., Clement S., Nieuwenhuizen AV., Kassam A., Brohan E., Norman I., Thornicroft G. (2013). Mental illness: clinicians' attitudes (MICA) scale. Psychometric properties of a version for students and professionals in any healthcare discipline. Psychiatry Research 206:81-87)

- Q13) State your level of agreement or disagreement with each of the following statements:
 - If I had a mental illness, I would never admit this to any of my friends because I would fear being treated differently.
 - People with a severe mental illness are dangerous more often than not.
 - If I had a mental illness, I would never admit this to my colleagues for fear of being treated differently.
 - The public does not need to be protected from people with a severe mental illness.
 - If a colleague told me they had a mental illness, I would still want to work with them.

Strongly disagree – strongly agree (1-5) (Yeap & Low 2009, Mental health knowledge, attitude and help-seeking tendency: a Malaysian context)

• Q14) State your level of agreement or disagreement with each of the following statements:

- A person who has visited a psychologist's office does not necessary mean he/she is a person with mental disorder.
- Anyone can suffer from mental health problems.
- Talking to someone with mental health problems is the same as talking to anyone else.
- People need to adopt a more caring and sympathetic attitude towards people with mental health problems.
- People with mental health problems are not dangerous/violent.
- People with mental health problems should have the same rights as anyone else.
- People with mental health problems should not be blamed for their own condition.

Demographics

- Q15) What is your gender?
 - o Male
 - o Female
 - Other
 - Prefer not to say

• Q16) How old are you?

- Under 18
- 18 25 years old
- 26–33 years old
- 34 41 years old
- 42 49 years old
- Over 49 years old

• Q17) What is your current education level?

- High School Graduate
- Professional Degree
- o University / College Graduate
- Masters Degree
- Doctorate

• Q18) What is your total annual income?

- Less than 10,000 euros
- 10,001–19,999euros
- 20,000 29,999 euros
- 30,000 39,999 euros
- 40,000–49,999 euros

- 50,000 59,999 euros
- 60,000 69,999 euros
- 70,000 euros or more
- Prefer not to reply